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December 6, 1997 . »l BT

President and Members of the Retirement Board:

»

Dear President and, Members:

We are pleased to submit to you the comprehens:ve

annual financial report of the School Employees

~ Retirement System of Ohio (SERS) for the fiscal year
) ended June 30, 1991. |

The report is d/vrded into six sections: an Introduc-
tory Section which, contains a Letter of Transmittal,
along with the identification of the ‘administrative
organization and the Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Finapcial Reporting, a summary-of .
federal and state legislation affecting the System over
the past year and a summary of health care benefit
cost control and savings measures /mp/emented by

* the Systermn;.a Financial Section which contains an in-

'dependent auditors’ report from our certified public
accountants, Deloitte & Touche, and the financial
statements of the System:.an Aetuarial Section which
contains a letter expressing the opinion of our'con-

. sulting actuaries, Gabriel, Roeder, Smith & Co. and
results of their annual actuarial valuation; a- Statistical
Section which. includes significant data pertaining to
the System; an Investment Section which includes
_the investment report and schedules of portfolio ac-
 tivity for the past year; and a Plan Summary Sect/on
-which provides a concise explanation of the various
benefit plans. which we provide to our members.

SERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer public
employee retirement system established by the Ohio
General Assembly in 1937 to provide retirement’ '
benefits to employees of Ohio public schools who 1
are not required to possess a certificate in order to
perform their duties. Benefits provided to participants
in SERS include age and service retirement, disability
. benefits, survivor benefits, death benefits, and health
" care benefits. From 1937 to the present SERS has
exper/enced continuous growth, and when.possible,
provided benefit enhancements. For a more com-
plete description of employees eligible for member-
ship in SERS as well as benefits provided upon
retirernent, disability or death, please see the Plan
Summeary section on page 61. ,
Certificate of Achievement'for Excellence
- in Financial Reporting '

The Govemment Finance Officers Assomat/on of the

SCHOOL EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

45 North Fourth Stieet » Columbus, Ohio 43215-3634 + Telephone (614) 222-5853

~

v

' United States and banada (GFOA) a'War‘d‘ed a Cer-

tificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial

E 'Reporting to SERS for its comprehensive annual

financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30,
1990.

\

“In order to be awa}ded a Certificate of Achievemeﬁt,

a governmental unit must publish an easily readable

. -and efficiently organ/zed comprehensive annual finan-

cial-report, whose contents conform to program stan-

. dards. Such reports must satisfy both generally ac-

cepted accounting principles and applicable /ega/
reqwrements !

A Certificate of Ach/evement is valid for a period of
one year only. SERS has received a Certificate of
Achievement for the last six consecutive years (fiscal ‘
years ended-1985-1990). We believe our current
report continues to conform to the Certificate of
Achievement Program requirements, and_we are sub-
mitting it to the GFOA to determing its elglbzllty for
another oemf/cate

oy

Economic Environment _
During the first quarter of the fiscal year ended June '

"30, 1991, eight years of continuous expansion in the

United States economy came to an end, and the
economy entered a recession that lasted through the
end of the fiscal year. Several economists contend
that this recession continues currently. Overall infla-
tion eased during the fiscal year, however, the
medical ‘care component of the Consumer Price In-
dex continues to outpace general price inflation. The -
continued- double-digit inflation in the health care in-

_dustry shows no sign of relenting, which will place

even more pressure on our ability to fund our post-
retirement health care program. The Federal Reserve,
in trying to fuel economic growth, significantly
reduced short-term interest rates during fiscal 1991
as well as subsequent to year end. As a result,
segments of our investment portfolio subject to short-
term investing will earn lower amounts of /nterest '
entering into fiscal 1992.

On a statewide level, citizens are fee//ng the pinch as
the economy contracts. Coupled with their dissatis-
faction with the actions of Congress and the Ex-
ecut/ve Branch, voters in many localities are
defeating local school levies that will raise their taxes.
Many school district employers across the state are



under severe budget stress which may affect levels
of membersh/p and re/ated contr/but/ons (o} the
System. -

In spite of high medical care inflation rates and
. hopefu//y, temporarily reduced interest rates and

moderating general inflation rates, SERS’ investment

portfo//o emphasizes high quality assets representing
- .excellent long term value which will protect pension
and health care benefits funding well into the future.
Regardless of the external pressures placed upon’
the System, SERS will never lose sight of its mission
to provide the best possible benefits and services to
all SERS members, reti(ées and beneficiaries.

Accounting System and Reports

+ These financial statements were prepared in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles
.of gévernmental accounting and reporting as pro-
nounced by the American Institute of Cartified Public

Accountants and the Governmental Accounting Stan- |

dards Board. .The financial statements are the
responsibility of SERS* management. Our internal ac-
counting controls are designed to ensure the security
of member and employer contributions, to assure
responsible -safeguarding of our assets and to pro-
vide a degree of reliability to all our financial records.

The principles promulgated by Statement No. 6 of
the National Council on*Governmental Accounting
are used in the System’s accounting. and subsequent
reporting of financial activities. The accrual basis of
accounting is used to record all financial transac:
tions. Gains and losses on sales and exchanges of
investments are recognized on the transaction date.
Investments in-fixed-income securities are reported at
amortized cost; discounts and premiums are
amortized using the interest method. All other assets
are reported at cost, except for real estate in-
~ vestments, which are reported at cost less ac-
-cumulated depreciation. All investments are subject
" to adjustment for market declines determ/nec/ fo be
other than temporary.

Major Initiatives and Financial Highlights

In a eontinuing effort to manage health care costs,
SERS introduced several new programs dur/ng the
last fiscal year. ,

SERS is the first Ohio retirement system to provide
an incentive to retirees to use lower cost generic
prescription drugs. With prescription costs now con-

vt

suming approximately 26% of total health care.ex-
penses, the prescription plans were a target of our
management efforts. Under the mail-order program,

' retirees who order generi¢ drugs receive their
", medication at no cost. Brand name drugs carry a

. 870 co-payment. By increasing the utilization of
generic drugs, which cost an average of one-fifth of
the brand name counterpart, we expect to hold
down the plan’s overa// cost.

.SERS also introduced a preferred pharmacy network
in con/unct/on with our health insurance plan ad-
ministrator. This ‘nationwide network of participating
pharmacies allows retirees to obtain short-term
prescription needs without the inconvenience of

claim forms and allows the System to negotiate the
best possible drug prices.

During our next fiscal year we will be btisy in-
vestigating and implementing new cost-savings
measures in the managed health care areas.of -

- hospital and physician providers which will further

allow us to maintain our excellént health care pro-
gram. Methods to curb rising health care costs are
an object ‘of universal concern. Cost containment and
managed care go hand in hand. SERS has and will
continue to aggressively pursue new ways to control
ever-rising health care costs and to continue to pro-
tect and fund the health care benefits (see summary
of health care.benefit cost controls and savmgs on
page 13). ‘ . o0

Several laws passéd by Congress have necessitated
modification to our benefits. The disability age
discrimination law, commonly called the "Betts Bill"”,
will require major changes in disability retirement .

* eligibility and benefits. Also, pension limitations have

been imposed under Section 415 of the Internal -
Revenue Code. In addition, Congress has required
-that individuals who are covered by a state or local
government retirement system, but who do not par- -
ticipate in that system, shall be covered by Social -
Security. This latter requirement caused thé Ohio
legislature fo pass H.B. 382, which requires all non-
participants to become contributing members in their >
respective Ohio ‘pension system. ,

SERS has been in the forefront of the strugg/e to
mitigate the damages of the Social Security windfall
and government pension offset penalties on the pen-,
sions of our retirees. Other federal and state
developments are continuous cause for concern and
SERS does monitor them for effects on the System.

-~



" A study of our actuarial assumptions as compared to
actual results was completed during the fiscal year
for the five years ended June 30, 1990. Several

.changes were recommended and incorporated in” our

“actuarial assumptions for the annual actuarial valua-
tion done as of June 30, 1991. A summary of these -
changés is on pages21. These updated actuaria
assumptions should continue SERS on a solid foun-

© dation with respect to funding and protecting pen-

. sion benefits in the future.

Revenues:

The financing of retirement and health care benefits
-is derived from employee and employer contributions
and through investment earnings. Revenues from
employee and employer contributions were $109.3
million and $188.5 million respectively, while income
_from investments totaled $201.8 million. The

" employee and employer contribution rates during

fiscal 1997 remained unchanged from the prior year =,

at 9% and 14% respectively. Overall revenues in-
creased 3.7% over those of the prior year primarily
due to increased investment earnings, increased
employer health care surcharge contributions, and in-
creased employer and employee payroll contributions
resulting from higher /eve/s of gross payrolls o?‘é’ct/ve
members ) ;

Operating Revenue
(Expfessed in Millions) -

R . Increase Increase
) 1991 1990 Amount  Percentage
Member - :
Contributions $109.3 $104.1 $ 5.2 5.0%
Employer -
Contributions  188.5  180.5 80 = 44
Investment :
Earnings 201.8 196.5 53. 27
Other . 2.0 26 (0.6) (23.1)
Total $501.6 $483.7 $17.9 ° 3.7%
Expenses

Expenses are'incurred primarily for the purpose for
which SERS was created: namely, the payment of
benefits: Included in the total expenses for fiscal
1997 were benefit payments, refunds -of contributions
due to member termination or death, transfers of
contributions to other Ohio Systems to provide
benefits for those members who hold membership in
' more than one system, and administrative expenses.
Expénses for fiscal 1997 totaled $299.8 million, an in-

i . ] . -
crease of 7.9% over 1990 expenses. Increases in the
number of benefit recipients and increased health '
care expense were.the primary reasons for the in- .
crease in total System expenses for the fiscal year.
Operating Expenses
 (Expressed in Millions)

Increase .. Increase

: 1991 1990 Amount . Percentage -
Retirement | - ‘ T
Payments $205.4 $1926 %128 6.69%.
Health Care . L
Payments 716 62.7 89  14.2
Refunds 12.3 12.5 (0.2) (1.6)
Administrative
Expenses - 83 7.9 0.4 5.1
Other 2.2 20 02 . 100
Total . $299.8 $277.7 -$221  ~7.9%

Funding and Reserves: -

Funds are derived from the excess of revenues over
expenses and are accumulated by SERS in order to
meet current and future benefit obligations to retirees’

and beneficiaries. The higher the level of funding, the

larger the accumulation of assets and the greater the '
investment income potential. Net income for-the

fiscal year 1991 resulted in an increase in the fund
balance of $201.8 million,

The actuarial valuation for funding purposes, dated
June 30, 1991, reflects an unfunded accrued liability
for basic benefits of $1,331 million and for health
care benefits of $1,154 million. These liabilities, repre-
sent the difference between the computed actuarial

" accrued liability-to be paid members and. retirants

and total valuation assets for basic benefits (34,346
million and $3,015 million) and health care ($1,311
million and $157 million). The unfunded accrued
liabilities are being amortized in an orderly fashion
over future years. The pension benefit obligation, a
standardized disclosure measure of the actuarial pre-
sent value of credited projected benefits, for basic
benefits and health care benefits was $4,214 million
and $1,241 million, respectively as of Jung 30, 1991.
The employer contribution rater of 14%: is allocated
by Board policy between basic benefits and health
care. In addition to the 14%, employers pay a sur-

_charge for any member whose salary is less than a
" minimum pay. The employer contributions from the

basic 14% employer rate plus the surcharge ac-
complish the goal of putting benefits and health care



benefits on a level cost funding 5eisis.

Additional information regarding funding is provided
within the Actuarial Section (pages 34 to 39) of this
report.

Investments

SERS invests the accumulated funds in order. to max-
imize both current income yield and lohg-term ap-

- preciation. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 1997,

investments provided 40.2% of the System's total

revenues while employee and-employer contributions '

prowded 21.8% and 37.6%, respectively; other -
sources accounted for the rema/mng 4%.

- The market value of the investments of the System

was $3.226 billion at June 30, 1991, an increase of
$270.5 million from the previous year. For the, last
ten years, SERS has experienced an average an-
fualized return of 13.3%. At June 30, 1991, our in-
vestment portfolio was, structured as follows: 49.6% .
in debt securities; 34.8% in equity securities; 4.3% in
short-term investments; and 11.3% in real estate.

The primary objective of our investment ,oo//cy is to

“assure that the System meets its responsibilities for

providing retirement and other benefits. The portfolio
is diversified to. provide adequate cash flow .and the
highest possible totaJ return on -System assets with
the least possible ex,oosure to risk. Statutory provi-
sions also serve to limit risk.(and return) within
respective investment portfolios. Details of portfolio
composition, rates of return, analysis of significant
economic conditions, and additional information con-
cerning our investment.policy and operations-are
provided on pages 46 to 60 of this report.

Cash Management

i

"~ SERS' investment: guzde ines mc/uded an a//ocat/on to

10

_ short-term investments a,o,orox;mat/ng 5% of the total
portfolio based on book value. The short-term portion -

of-the ,oortfo//o is primarily invested in commercial
paper and returned 7.5% for fiscal 1991.

'SERS’ bank deposits at year-end were entirely

covered by federal depository insurance or collateral .
held in the name of SERS’ custodian. Of $3.2 billion
in investments at market value at Jyne 30, 1997,
none of the System’s investments were in the lowest
risk. categories as defined by the Governmental Ac-
counting Standards Board.

Future Prospects o .

As certified by our actuary in this report, SERS is be-
ing maintained on a financially sound basis, thus pro-
viding protected future benefits for participants. We
ant/o/pate that investment earnings on System assets
WI// continue to meet or exceed actuarially assumed
earnings rates. The System's goal /s attainment of a

_fully funded position, -while keeping. member and

employer contributions level.

Systern employees are dedicated fo the prudent in-
vestment and protection of System assets; to ex-

: ce//ence in service to members and retirees, and to

reduction of System costs where app//cable These

‘directives have béen and will rema/n our h/ghest

priorities.

When poss:b‘/e, SERS wi//’—exp/ore enhancements to
our existing benefits' and provide new benefits. In spite
of the volatility of health care costs, we will continue to
meet the challenges of piroviding. the best possible
and affordable post-retirement health care coverage.
Acknowledgements -

The preparation of this report is the result of the com-.
bined effort of the System’s staff under the direction of

“the Retirement Board. It is intended to provide com-

plete and reliable information as a basis for making

‘management decisions, to disclose compliance with
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responsible stewardship. for the. assets contributed- by
the members and their employers.

This report vv/// be mailed to all emp/oyer members of
SERS and other interested parties.

Respectfully submiiteo’,

- Thomas R. Anderson

Executive Director -

, Joe/ E. Sofranko, CPA

Director of Finance



B State Legislation \

During the past year the Ohio General Assembly has
considered various ‘pieces of legislation which would -
impact SERS. The fo/lowmg significant /eg/s/at/on was
passed . _

. H.B.382 eff. 6/30/91

This legislation, also known as the Pub//c
Employee Retirement Protection Act, was ~,
enacted in response to legislation; passed by
Congress that requires all pub//c employees not
contributing*to a public retirement system to
begin contributing. to Social Security as of July 1, '
1991, Effective July 1, 1991, all non-certificated
- public school employees, with the exception of
students employed by .the district in which they
are enrolled as students, temporary employees
serving in the event of an emergency such as
fire ‘or flood, and individuals employed in pro-
grams under the federal ' "Job Training Partner- -
ship- Act”’, must contribute to SERS. Retirants of
SERS or any of the other four state retirement
systems will now contribute to SERS upon
reemployment in non- -certificated posmons in
public schoofs. Reemployed retirants' contribu-
tions will be credited toward a separate money
‘purchase annuity, payable after age 65 in either:
a lump sum or in monthly payments if such
would equal $25.00 per month or more. SERS
retirants will no longer be subject to any limita-
tion on the number of days that they may work
upon reemployment, H.B. 382 also provides for -
school board members to elect to contribute to .
SERS and to purchase credit in SERS, PERS or
STRS, if membership is already established, for
service between 9/1/37 and 6/30/97 as a schoo/
board member. -

B H.B. 104 eff 10/31/97 ‘
This legislation wh/ch orlg/nated in the House as

a municipal tax-assessment bill, was amended in -

the Senate to require state school district income
tax to be paid on retirement benefits received - -
from SERS and the other four state retirement
systems. These benefits were previously exempt
from such taxation. The provision is effect/ve for
tax years 1991 and thereafter

M HB. 180 eff. 10/29/91

This legislation, which was introduced to c/ar/fy

the calculation of final average salary under

STRS statutes, was amended to prowde that

SERS, as well as STRS, may establish programs

under which members and their employers may

participate in‘lohg-term care programs adopted
" by the retiremerit systems. '

W S.B.3 eff 4/17/91

This legisiation was introduced to provide
. benefits for those Ohio public employees serving -
in the military in ""Desert Shield" and "Desert
.Storm™'. The laws of the five state retirement .
systems.were amended to entitle veterans of
. these military operations to service credit in the

state retirement systems on the same basis as

. veterans of pnor wars.

Federal Legislation C

" The impact of Congressional and federal regu/atory
activities upon SERS has._increased during .recent
years. SERS monitors activiti€s, on the federal level
and when necessary contacts appropnate Congres-
sional representatives and regulatory agencies in an .

< effort to educate them as to the impact of their ag-,

tivities on SERS and its members and beneficiaries.
Significant activities on the federal level over the past-
year inc/ude' the ‘fo//owing:

| Betts Legislation

~ Legislation(S.B. 1511) was enacted in October
1990 to clarify that the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act applies to benefit plans. Public
plans have until October, 1992 to'comply with
the federal requirements. SERS will have to

- amend its disability retirement program which

“currently excludes applicants who are age 60 or .
older. SERS is awaiting promulgation of reguia-
tions by the federal agencies responsible for car-
rying out the intent of this legislation.

W Social Secur:ty

The 1990 Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act ex-
_ tended Social Social Security Coverage to those
,DUb/IC employees not contr/butlng toa publzc

School Employees Retirement System: of Ohio

Legislative Summary |
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Legislative Summary

»
“retirement plan and authorized IRS to promulgate
" regulations tp effectuate the intent of the legisla-
tion. In April, 1991, the IRS released proposed
rules which, if they had become final, would
have required the majority of SERS members
© working twenty hours or less per week to con-
tribute to Social Security. SERS actively opposed
the proposed rules through contacts with the -
Ohio Congressional delegation and testimony
before the IRS. The final regulations issued in
June, 1997 were substantially different than
those originally proposed. SERS is'in the process
of reviewing th,é final regulations to determine
any changes in ,o/an design that may be
necessary to ensure that SERS members do not
have to contribute to \Socia/ Security.

-

Windfall/Offset

Legislation to amend or repeal the Social Securi-
ty Offset provision has again been introduced.
H.R. 53, introduced by Congresswoman Qakar,
would repeal the Offset. H.R. 1791, introduced
by Congressman Donnelly, would eliminate the

Offset for-incomes of less than $300.00 per
month and reduce the Offset for incomes bet-
ween $300.00 and $900 00 per month

B Section 415

Legls/at/on to amend Section 475 of the Internal
Revenue Code to lessen jts impact on public
retirement systems,*such as SERS, has been in-

_ troduced in both Houses of Congress. The

leading bills are H.R. 1348, introduced by Con-
gressman Matsui, and S. 1364, introduced by

" Senator Pryor and cosponsored- by Senator Bent-

sen. Section 415 provides that no retirement
benefit can be paid which is in excess of either a
set dollar amount that is adjusted annually for in- .
flation or 100% of compensation. The current
definition of ‘‘compensation”does not include

“deferred income such as that under Section

414(h) pick-up plans ar Section 457 deferred .

compensation plans. The proposed legisiation in-
cludes deferred income in the definition of ‘‘com-
pensation”’, exempts public pension plan' benefits
from the 100% limitation and provides that public
plan disability retirement and survivor benefits are

. not subject to Section 415.

—

School Employees. Retirement System of Ohio



Health Care Summary

<

HISTORY OF HEALTH CARE COST CONTROLS 'ANb SAVII\'IGVS’ v -

In 1974, the School Employees Retirement System
was given discretionary authority to make health care
benefits available to retirees and their dependents.
Today, SERS offers three hospital-medical plans to
“our 59,000 retirees and covered dependents, in-
cluding two health maintenance organizations.

. Benefit recipients under the SERS/Aetna hospital-

medical plan also have a mail order drug program
available to meet their long-term prescription drug
needs.

Initially, 0.75 percent was the contribution rate
established for funding health care benefits and was
included in the employer rate. Any institution, public
or private, providing post-retirement health' care
benefits is very much aware that health care costs -
have increased substant/a//y more than overall

" inflation.

In the early 1980's, SERS recognized the inflationary
pressures health care was placing on the SyStem's
ability to fund benefits into the future. By law, any

costs borne by the System are required to be financed

out of the employer contribution rate. Higher rates
of contribution were required to finance health care
costs and* SERS had no flexibility to increase the
employer contribution rate because it was fixed by
statute. -

Through the most common miethods of cost contain-

ment. and cost shifting, SERS introduced deductibles,
premium charges for spouse and dependent =
coverage, individual case management, and the in-
vestigation of potential cases of fraud identified
through claim processors, -complaints, government
agencies, audits, employers and other sources. Also,
in 1981, House Bill 126 changed the -requirement to
qua//fy for health insurance from five years of serwce
credit to ten years, with an /mp/ementat/on date of
June, 1986.

One of the most significant moves made by SERS

. was the disclosure of health care liabilities. In
December, 1982, SERS became the first Ohio retire-
ment system to publicly disclose long-term actuarial
accrued liabilities of retiree health care. Also; the
employer contribution rate required for health care
funding was determined by the System's actuary and
an annual transfer of assets, based on this actuarially

o’eterm/ned rate, to a hea/th care reserve account

" was initiated.

In September of 1984, SERS organized a spéc/a/
health care task force. Representatives from member
and employer-organizations, the Ohio Retirement
Study Commission, health care providers, and ac-
tuaries and accountants met to study SERS' increas-

- ing health care costs. Panel members were given ac-

tuarial estimates of the potential tripling of health -
care costs by 1992 if effective cost containment
measures or changes in the design of the program
were not implemented. As a result of this meeting,
many suggestions and recommendations were
considered.

SERS continued to implement cost containment pro-
visions .such as enforcement of reasonable and
customary fees, increased deductibles and co- -
payments and introduced a hospital admission -
charge for retirees. In spite of these actions, the
SERS Retirement Board, in March of 1986,-was in-
formed that the health care program costs could no
longer be funded on a level cost basis with the cur-

. rent employer contribution rate and that continued

level cost funding of basic retirement benefits was in
peril.

'ln December 1987, the SERS Retirement Board ~

adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 5. Although not-required to do so,

SERS chose to disclose health care liabilities as part

of pension benefit obligations to draw attention to the ‘
long-term nature of the health care financing pro- _
blem. This segregation of assets and liabilities began
appearing in the annual actuarial valuation report

' and the comprehensive annual financial report.

The Board also authorized the engagement of an in:

dependent actuarial firm to project health care costs

and propose alternative courses of action to contain

future costs. The Board undertook aggressive action '
to correct the financial problem. Legislative changes

were sought and in June of 1988, House Bill 290

. became law. Coupled with Board action; the follow-

ing changes were made

W Career vesting of health care benefits was
established. Members retiring with at least 10

School gmp/oyees Ret'ifement Siystemofl Ohio™ '
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Health Care' SUMMAary s————

years but less than 25 years of service credit are re-

.quired to pay a portion of the health care premium

as follows: 10-14 years: 75%; 15-19 years: 50%; and '

20-24 years: 25%. ,

. The System's subsidy of dependent health care

premjums was- reduced from 50% to 30%.

W The System’s reimbursement to retirees for
"Medicare Part B coverage was frozen at $24.80
. pec.month.

W An 80/20 re/atronsh/p between the System’s costs
and retiree costs of the mail.order prescr/pt/on
drug pilan was implemented.

M An employer surcharge on the salaries of

members who earn less than an actuarially-
determined amount was established.

Changes and modifications to programs continue to
be made, especially in the area of managed care.
SERS developed and implemented a retail prescrip-
tion drug program which allows retirees to obtain
their prescriptions at local pharmacies at significant
discounts. This program, which is nationwide, also

!

electronically submits all claims, which reduces ad-
ministrative claim processing costs. By utilizing
technology, the program will provide prospective,
rather than retrospective review and integrate the *
data from the mail order prescription program in the
review. ‘ o .

Furthermore, SERS _is b_eiﬁg very aggressive in bb-
taining discounts from hospitals. By June of 1993,
SERS anticipates having a network of doctors and
hospitals under contract to provide high quality, cost
effective health care.

The actions of the Retirement Board have already

' realized substantial savings to the System for the
year ended June 30, 1991.. SERS would have spent

over $29 million more if no action had been taken

- over the years in altering the plari design and im-

plementing cost containment programs.

SERS will continue to be a leader in the area of
unique and timely approaches to health care cost
management in order to maintain our retirees’ well-
being and peace of mind. :

14
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Finanéial Section

. }NDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT B

t. -

 Delgitta
__Touche :

' ,\ 155 East Broad Street Telephone: (614) 221-1000
Columbus, Ohio 43215-36560  Facsimile: (614) 229-4647

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

&

Members of the Retirement Bdéard . ) x
School Employees Retirement System of Ohio
Columbus, Ohio , :

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of the School
Employees Retirement System of Ohio as of June 30, 1991 and:
1990, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in fund balances and of cash flows for the years then
ended. These financial statements are the respongibility of the
System's management. Our responsibility is to express an
_opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the. audit to obtain reasoyable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
-audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. A&An
audit also includes'assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

_ In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of School Employees
Retirement System of Ohio as of June 30, 1991 and 1990, and the
- results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then
. ' ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. , e
Qur audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion
on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The
financial section schedules. listed in the table of contents are

: . presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not a

- required part of the basic financial statements. These.

: schedules are the responsibility of the System's management.

such schedules as of and for the years ended June 30, 1988,
1989, 1990 and 1991 have been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in our audits of the basic financial
statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all:
material respects when considered in relation to- the basic
financial statements taken as a whole. The schedules as of and
for the years ended June 30, 1983 through.1987 were reported
upon by other auditors whose reports stated that the schedules
were fairly stated when considered in relation to the basic
financial'statements.

Dutothe. 0 Touchs__

November 25, 1991 i :

Member
nne
[]

.l

International
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BALANCE SHEETS
June 30, 1991 and 1990

Assets:
Cash (note 5)

Receivables: .
Contributions:
Employers (note 4)
Employees (note 4)
State of Ohio subsidies

Accrued investment income

Investment sale proceeds
. Total recervables

" Collateral held under securities

lending program (note 5)

Investments, at cost (market $3,225,957,813 and *
$2 955,412,276, respectively) (notes 5 and 6)

Property and equipment, at cost (note 7)
Less accumu/ated depreciation

Net property and equrpment

Other assets (note 9)
Total assets
Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Investment commitments payable
" . Health care benefits incurred and unpaid .

Notes payable (note 8)
Other liabilities (note 9)

Obligations under securities /eno’/ng program (note 5)

Total liabilities

/

_Fund balance (note 3):
Pension benefit obligation:-

Retirees and beneficiaries currently
receiving benefits and terminated
employees not yet receiving benefits

Current employees:

Accumulated employee contr/butlons

Net assets available for bénefits

including allocated investment /ncome

Emp/oyer financed portion
Total pension benefit obligation

Unfunded pension benefit
obligation payable

Total fund balance

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

N
]

1991

1

—eieeeeeeeese Finiancial - Section

1990

" 3,004,786 -$ . 1,464,905
107,700,462 . 104,384,126 .
7,720,510 9,014,900 . -

- 887,013 983,082

31,805,131 27,993,850

6,634,058 - 16,273,015

154,747,174 158,648,973

251,793,903 90,566,742
2719,071,961 2,515,833,425°

10,831,805 - 10,076,987

4,289,445 3,338,976
6,542,360 6,738,011 .

- 4,765,548 9,574,198

i

3,139,825,732

" 761,419

2,782,826,254

, 743,812 .
5,903,132 8,766,875
17,169,695 17,329,503
. 3,054,290
942,222 767,480
. 251,793,903 190,566,742
276,570,371 121,228,702

2,863,355,361 ~ §

2,661,597,552

| 2828,887,430 8

748,783,498
1,877,265,447

2,650,101,948

683,812,888

" 1,463,293,974

- 5,454,936,375

(2,591,581, 014)

4,797,208,810

(2,135,611,258)

2,661,597,552

2,863,355, 361 §

i

-School Emp/oyeés Retirement System of Ohio.

17



Financial Section

3

!

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

Years ended June 30, 1991 and 1990

' 3\

A

!

. ‘ 1991 1990
Revenues: - - :
Contributions: o , ,

Employers (note 4) 188,465,132 ¢ - 180,544,371

Employees (note 4) 109,310,197 104,105,361

State of Ohio subsidies - 886,853 983,082

Transfers from other Ohio systems 1,094,896 1,586,700
S ' ' 299,757,078 287,219,514
Investment income: . o .

- Interest and dividends ‘ 173,698,254 166,326,782
Real estate income, net (notes 6 and. 8) 12,676,390 14,056,231
Net realized gain on sale of investments 15,545,835 16,144,030

o ‘ 201,820,479 196,527,043

" Total revenues 501,577,557 483,746,557
. ]
Expenses:
Benefits: .

Retirement 173,348,030 162,866,492

‘Disability 19,854,430 18,077,033
Survivor - 11,358,736 10,886,380 -

. Health care 71,633,065 62,746,014

'Death . -730,838 709,708

276,925,099 255,285,627

Refund of employee contribut/ons 12,345,363 12,532,925

Administrative expenses 8,346,903 7,942,036

Transfers to other Ohio systems 2,202,383 1,983,908
Total expenses 299,819,748 277,744,496

Net income : ' - 201,757,809 206,002,061

Fund balance, beginning of year A 2,661,697,552 2,455,595,491

Fund balance, end of year ' C $ 2,863,355,361 $ 2,661,597,552

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

V4
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‘ STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
 Years ended June 30, 1997 and 1990 . - : ' o '

o o . 1991 1990

Cash flows from operating activities: , . . e
Contributions received - . § - 297,831,201 & - 273,997,854
Investment income, net of investment expenses . 186,044,021 . - 179,968,464

. Benefits paid - . ' (271,614,849) , . (254,846,392)
Refunds of employee Conmbut/ons ' R ' (12,345,363) - - (12,532,925)
Administrative expenses paid ‘ o T (7,761,806) - (8,945,687) *
Transfers to other Ohio systems . ) (2,202,383) . (1,983,908).

_Net cash provided by operating activities o 189,850,821 ‘ 175,657,406

Cash flows from investing activities: ‘ o ' ’ i '
Proceeds from investments sold . ' _ 3,018,124,267 3,310,507,558 -
Purchase of investments - , (3,202,622,412) (3,487,687,677)

Net cash used in investing activities S, (184,498,145)- - © . (177,180,119)
" Cash flows from financing activities: ' i ' , ' -
Repayment of notes payable -‘ ~ (3,054,290) . (1,263,161)
Net additions to property and equipment . v o " (858,505) (527,789)
[Increase in collateral held under securities , . 7 ' o
lending: program ' (161,227,161) (90,566,742)
Increase in obligations under securities /end/ng program 161,227,161 90,566,742
Cash used by financing activities : .Y (3,912,795) ) (1,790,950)
. Net increase (decrease)'in cash o 1,539,881 ' (3,313,663)
- Cash at beginning of year ' , 1,464,905 - 4,778,568

Cash at end of year L . | $ 300478 3 1,464,905 .

Reconc:liatton of net income to net cash provided by

operating activities: o , . , _

Net income . : ) $ 201,757,809 ~§ . 206,002,061

. Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash prowded ‘

by operating activities: N - ‘ _ S '
Increase in contributions reeeivable - (1,925,877) . (13,221,660)
Net realized gain on sale of investments S (15,545,835) (16,144,030)

_ Increase in accrued investment income - - (3811,281) o (3,208,261)
Depreciation and amortization (investment), net . 3,580,658 , 2,793,712
Depreciation (non- -investment) ' T 1,054,156 : 853,110
Decrease (increase) in other assets e 4,808,650 ' : (3,033,333)
/ncrease (decrease) in accounts payab/e and accrued . : _ T )

expenses , ’ 17,607 ; (5,842)

- Increase (decrease) in hea/th care benefits /ncurred _ o

and unpaid o . ‘ . ' , (159,808) 1,450,044
Increase in other liabilities - 5 174,742 171,605
- Tota_/ éc'ljustments : : ‘ -~ (11,806,988) (30,344,655)

Net cash provided by operating activities -3 189,950,821 § 175,657,406

" See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Financial Section

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STA TEMENTS
June 30, 1991 and 1990

(1) Description of the System

(A) Organization — The School Emp/oyees Retire-
ment System of Ohio’(SERS) is a cost-sharing
multiple-employer public employee- retirement system
established by the Ohio General Assembly in 1937 to
provide retirement benefits to employees of Ohio
public schools who are not required to possess a

- certificate in order to perform their duties,

Responsibility for the organization and administration
of SERS is vested in the Retirement Board. SERS.is
not considered part of the State of Ohio financial
reporting entity. There [8 no financial interdependen-
cy with the State of Ohio, nor does the State of Ohio
provide oversight authority for the System. The
Retirement Board is the governing body of SERS, it
is comprised of four elected employee-members, one
elected retiree-member and two statutory members.

Employer and employee membership data as of -
June 30 follows:

Employer Members 1991 1990
LOCA .. veroeer e, 372 373
City covvovreeereene SR o193 192
COUNLY ..t ” -84 84
VIllage. ...cocvovoeveeeerereeeeerran. . 49 49
Vocational................cccccoevn i 51 : 51
Technical..........cccoveviivvciiiiien, 11 11
College....... et 2 2
Other.........c.c.ccovvvvea, ROV 4 4

766 766

Employee Members

Retirees and beneficiaries cur-
rently receiving benefits and
terminated employees entitled
to benefits but not yet -

receiving them.................. 56,203 54,256

Current employees !
Vested oo ST 56,148 56,023
Nonvested ... 37,426 37,124
Total ............. e, 93,574 93,147

.(B) Benefits — Members are eligible for retirement
benefits based upon age and service credit as
follows: age 60 and earning 5 years of service credit;
between ages 55 and. 60 and earning 25 years of
service credit; or earning 30 years of service credit at
any-age. The benefit is equal to 2.1% of the
member’s final average salary, or a minimum of $86,
multiplied by-the number of years of credited service.

In addition to retirement benefits, SERS also provides

for disability benefits, survivor benefits, death benefits

and health care benefits.

Members are eligible for disab/lity benefits after com-
pletion of 5 years of service. Qualified dependents of -
a deceased member are eligible for monthly survivor
benefits. Death benefits of $500 are payable upon

- the death of a retirant to a designated beneficiary.
Prior to July 1, 1986, all members receiving a benefit

from SERS were eligible to receive health care
benefits. Members who retire effective July 1, 1986

or later must havetat least 10 or more years of ser-

vice credit to qualify for the health care benefits. £f-
fective July.1, 1989, 1) members retiring with more

than 10 but less than 25 years of service crédit were
required to pay. from 25% to 75% of the health in-

surarice premium phased in over a period of five
years and 2) the SERS portion of spouse and depen-
dent health insurance premiums was reduced from

50% to 30%, over a five-year period.

Members with credited service in the State Teachers "

Retirement Systemn (STRS) or Public Employees

Retirement System (PERS) are eligible to receive .

" transferred credited service and funds from either or

both -of those systems. Any service which is not con-
current with service within SERS will be included in
the determination of retirement benefits. Similarly, a
member with credited service and funds in SERS
may transfer such service to STRS or PERS upon

' ret/rement

e
: 7

(2) Summary of 'Significént Accountiné Policies
"SERS’ financial statements are prepared Using. the

accrual basis of accounting. The following are the
significant accounting policies followed by SERS:

(A) Investments — Income on all investments is
recognized on the accrual basis. Gains and losses
on.sales and exchanges of investments are
recognized on the transaction date. All investments
are subject to adjustment for market declines deter
mined to be other than temporary.

investments in fixed-income securities and mortgage
loans are reported at amortized cost with discourits
or premiums amortized using the interest method.

Investments in common and preferred stocks are car-
ried at cost. Gains and losses on stock sales are
recognized on the basis of the average cost of the

- stocks sold.

Investments in short-term obligations, principally cer-
tificates of deposit, commercial paper and U.S. -
Treasury bills, are carried at cost, which appro-

20
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NOTES TO F[NANCIAL'STATEMENTS (Continued)

-

imates market valué. - :

Investments in real estate are carried at cost less ac-
cumulated depreciadtion. Depreciation on buildings is
provided using the straight-line method over the
gstimated useful lives of the property (40 to 45
years). Investments in commingled real estate funds
are carried at cost.

Investments in venture capital are aécqunted for at
the pro-rata share of underlying equity. '

(B) Property and Equipment (Non-Investment
Assets) — Property and equipment are stated at-
cost. Depreciation_has -been provided using the
straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Description Estimated Lives (years) -
Automobiles..........: et 3
Equipment and furmture ..... PRSPPI e 3-10
BUIING. .. v s 40

(C) Federal Income Tax:Status — During the years
ended June 30, 1991 and 1990 SERS qualified
under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code
and was exempt from Federal income taxes.

- (D) Health Care Benefits Incurred and Unpaid —-

Amounts accrued for heéz/th care benefits payable
are based upon estimates furnished by the claims

Actuarial Assumption . 1991

Rate of return on investments

Projected salary increases

merit.

Post-retirement mortality

Rates of withdrawal from active service
for reasons other than death, rates of

"

7.75% compounded annually.

' .
4.75% compounded annually, attributable to
inflation; additional increases ranging from 0%
to 3% per year attributable to seniority and

1971 Group Annuity Table projected to 1984
set back 1 year for women and men.

Developed on basis of actual plan experierce.

administrator. Such estlmates have been deve/oped
from prior claims experience.

(E) Reclassification — Certa/n 1990 ba/ances have
been rec/aSSIf/ed to conform wzth 1991 presentation.

(3) Funding Status and Progress '
The amount shown as the “pension benefit obliga-

‘tion'' is a standardized disclosure measure of the

present value of pension benefits, adjusted for the ef-
fects of projected salary increases, estimated to be

_payable in the future as a result of employee service

to date. The measure is the actuarial present value of
credited projected benefits and is intended to help
users assess SERS’ funding status on a going-
concern basis, assess progress being made in ac-
cumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits when
due, and allow for comparisons among public

- employee retirement plans. The measure is indepén-

dent of the actuarial funding method used to deter-

mine contributions to SERS. s

The pension benefit ob//gat/on was detérminéd as

~ part of an actuarial valuation of the plan as of June

30, 1991 and 1990. As a result of the five-year study
of actuarial assumptions, changes were made for the

_actuarial valuation as of June.30, 1991. The following

significant assumptions were used in the actuarial
valuations as of June 30, 1991 and 71890:

1990
7.5% compounded annually, increased to

9.5% rafe of return annually for the period July
1, 1988 through June 30, 1990.

4.5% compounded annually, attributable to in-
flation; additional increases ranging from 0%
to 3% per year attributable to seniority and
‘merit ’

1971 Group Annuity Table projected (o 1984
for men and women, set back 1 year for.
women. T

Developed on basis of actual plan experience.

Financial Section

disability and expected retirement ages

Health care:premiums

4.75% annual increase with 25% of eligible
fermale retirants and 60% of eligible male
retirants electing joint survivor form of paymept
and 25% of e/igible female retirants and 50%
of eligible male refirants electing to cover

“spouse for health care.

Medicare

Alf recipients are eligible for Medicare on at-
tainment of age 65 or immediately if retired for
disability.

4.5% annual increase with 25% of eligible
female retirants and 60% of eligible: male
retirants electing joint survivor form of payment

and 25% of eligible female retirants and 50%

of eligible male retirants electing to cover
spouse for health care. ‘

All recipients afe gligible for Medicare on at-
tainment,of age 65 or immediately if retired for
disability: ’

School Employees R_et/rehﬁent System of Ohio . - |
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Financial - Section

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

}At June 30, 1991 the unfunded pension benefit ob//gat/on
was $2 591,581,014 as follows:

$1,149,155,366

Unfunded pension benefit obligation ....... SRS

g

. _Basic\ . :
< _ : Retirement Health Care : .
) Benefits Benefits Total
- Pension benef/t obligation: ' , N
" Rétirees and beneficiaries currently rece/wng
benefits and term/naled employees not yet ' : ' ,
receiving DENGTIS .o eese e $2,048,184,604 § 780,702,826. § 2,828,887,430
Current employees: o )
Accumulated employee con{nbut/ons /nc/ud/ng :
‘allocated investment inCOmMe .........cccoeveu. b 748,783,498 - 748,783,498
Employer financed — vested ...\ - 1,253,297,217 . 442,474,951 1,695,772,168
" Employer financed — non- vested ettt S 163,365,457 18,127,822 181,493,279
]{‘Qta/ pension benefit obligation ............... e, ey 4,213,630, 776 1,241,305,599 5,454;936,375
Net assets available for benefits, at cost (market : . 4 N o
"$3,370,241,213) c0ccviriiri , 2,721,806,370 /141,548,991 2,863,355,361
Unfunded pension benefit 0bligation ................ccccoceewerenn. ‘ $1,491,824,406  $ 1,099, 756,608 $2,591,581,014
At June 30, 1990 the unfunded ,oens:on benefit ob//gat/on
was $2, 7 35 611, 258 as follows:’
, Basic
Retirement Health Care .
' t Benefits Benefits - ~ Total
Penszon benefit obligation: - e '
Ret/rees and beneficiaries current/y receiving '’ ,
" penefits and terminated” employees not yet . - ‘
receiving benefits ...............i.... e PR $1,926,981,136 § 723,120,812 $2,650,101,948
Current employees: - ' ' o
Accumulated employee contributions- /nc/ud/ng o
allocated investment JNCOME vt iieevisirnriiienenen 683,812,888 — 683,872,888 \
Employer financed — vested ..., 996,967,870 397,084,384  1,394,052,254
-Employer financed — non-\_/ested ......... VRPN , 54,469,406 1'4, 772,314 ' 69,241,720
Total pension benefit obligation .................c.c...coce... 3,662,231,300  1,134,977,510 4,797,208,81 0
Net assets available for benefits, at cost (market ‘ . ‘ i )
$3,701,176,408)....seviracl T s 2,513,075,934 148,521,618 2,661,697 552
$ 986,455,892 $2,1356711,258

anng theyear ended June. 30, 1991, the p/an ex,oenenced a net change in the tota/ pension benefit obligation of
8657,727,565 (551,399,476 for basic refirement benefits and $106, 328,089 for health care benefits).” Of that
change, $0 was attributable to plan amendments and approximately $56,524,000 {$49,501,000 for basic benefits
and $7,023,000 for health care benefits) was attributable to changes in assumptions.
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- Financial Section

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

l

(4) Contributions -

- The Ohio Revised Code requires contributions by ac-

tive members and their employers. Contribution rates’
are established by the Rétirement Board within the
“allowable rates.established by the Ohio Revised
Code. Active members and their employers are re-
quired to contribute 9% and 149%, respectively, of
active member payroll. Thé current employer con-
tribution rate is allocated to basic retirement benefits
and health care by the Retirement Board. For fiscal
year- 1997 the allocation of the employer contribution
rate to basic retirement benefits has been established
as the rate necessary to cover, normal cost, plus

an amortization of the unfunded actuarial accrued -
liabilities over a 40-year petiod. Based on this deci-
sion, the currenit employer contribution rate (149%) is
allocated -9.63% to basic benefits and the remaining

'  4.37% is allocated to health care benefits. The con-

tribution rate allocated to health care, plus the addi-

tional rate of contribution provided by the health care-

surcharge is sufficient to cover normal cost and. pro-
vide level cost financing: of the  unfunded actuarial ac-
crued Jiabilities. The adequacy of employer contribu-

" tion rates is determined annually usmg the entry age
normal cost method.’

Significant actuarial assumptlons used to determine

the adequacy of contribution rates were the same as -

those used to compute the standardized measure of
the pension benkfit obhgat/on

Employer and em,o/oyee contributions required and
“made represented 14% afd 9%, respectively, of ac-
tive member payroll and amounted to $167,991,000
and $107,994,000, respectively in 1991. The
employer contribution consisted of $87,033,074 for
narmal cost and $80,957,926 for amort/zat/on of the
unfunded actuana/ accrued fiability. .

The health care surcharge on employers is collected
for employees earning less than an actuarially deter-
mined minimum pay, pro-rated according to service
credit earned: (for fiscal years 1997 and 1992 the
minimum has been.established as $9,100 and
$9,900 respect/ve/y) The amount of thq surcharge
accrued for fiscal years 1991 and 1990 and included
in contribution revenue from employers in the
Statements of Revenues. Expenses and Changes in
Fund Balance is $17, OOO OOO and $18,217, 909
respectivély.

Employee contributions may. be refunded, without in-

~terest, to a member-who withdraws from SERS or to
the member’s benef/czary fo/lovwng the member's

' death. .

-

1
(5) Cash Depos:ts and Investments

SERS' bank deposits at year-end were ent/re/y ‘
covered by federal depos:tory insurance or by col-"'
lateral held in the name of SERS" custodian, the

* Treasurer, State of Ohie, as required by statute. The

carrying amount of the System's deposits as of June
30, 1991 was' $3,004,786 and the bank balance was

" $5,697,968. SERS’ deposits covered py federal

depository insurance and collateral held in the name
,of SERS’ custodian amounted to $296,249 and -
$5,401,719 respectively at June 30, 1991.

SERS is authorized to invest in bonds, notes, cer-
tificates of indebtedness, mortgage notes, real estate,
stocks, shares, debentures, or other obligations or
securities as set forth in the Ohio Revised Code. In
accordance with Statement No. 3 of the Government-
al Accounting Standards Board, SERS’ investments
-are categorized to give an indication of the level of

" risk assumed by SERS at year-end. Category 1 in-

cludes investments that are-insured or registered or
held by SERS, or the Treasurer, State of Ohio, or
custodial agent bank in SERS’ name. 'Category 2 in-
cludes uninsured and unregistered investments for.
which thé securities are held by the Treasurer, State
.of Oh/o in SERS’ name. Category 3 includes unin-

" sured and unregistered investments for which the -

securjties are held by the Treasurer, State of Ohio
but not in SERS’ name. In accordance with a con-
tractual relationship between the Treasurer, State of
.Ohio and a custodial agent bank, all securities sub-
ject to categorization are Category 1 investments
held in book entry form in a unique account so as to
be identifiedt at all times as the possession of the

~ System,
. The System participates in a security lending pro-

gram, administered by the custodial agent bank, .
whereby certain securities are transferred tq an in-

N dependent broker/dealer (borrower) in exchange for

Collateral equal to no less than 102% of the market
value of the loaned securities. The System has
minimized its exposu_re to credit risk due to borrower
default by having the custodial agent bank determine
daily that required collateral meets 100%. of the
market value of securities on loan. The System has
not experienced any losses due to credit or market
risk on security lending activity since implernentation
of the program. The market value of collateral loaned
to brokers/dealers at June 30, 1991 totaled $251.8
miflion. Security lending income totaled $264,332 for
the year ended June 30, 1991.

Securlties under /oan are ma/nta/ned on the System s
-fmancra/ records and are included with first mortgage

: 5Sehool Employees Retirement System of Oniof
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NO TES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contlnued)

(5) Cash Deposits and Investments (continued)

loans, real estate commingled real estate funds, and
venture capital funds as investments which by their
nature are not required-to be categorized for level of
risk purposes..

Market values of securities are based primarily on

o

" quotations from national security exchanges. Market

values of real estate are based upon appraisals.
Market values of investments in the commingled real
estate and venture capital funds are based on infor-
mation provided by the fund managers.

A surnmery of investments,‘as of each June 30 follows:

, _ 1991 . 1990
- B Carrymg Value Market Value Carrying Value . Market Value
Corporate and government . : )
bonds and obligations - ' $ 708,033,657 $ 732,463,940 § 615,720,281 $ - 624,347,959
First mortgage loans and mortgage- backed , : ' .
" securities ] 641,199,455, - 673,120,143 - 600,815,699 623,682,077
. Common and preferred stocks 978,987,320 1,361,391,374 804,941,388 . 1,192,193,415
Short term investments - 115,540,723 " 115,540, 723 163,974,710 163,974,710
Real estate 308,517,593 318,149,920 304,663,884 326,461,802 .
Venture capital investments - 26,793,213 25,291,713 - 25,717,463 24,752,213
Total investments - o8 2,515,833,425 $ 2,955,412,276

2,719,071,961 §

3,225,957,813 $

(6) Real Estate and Leases V

SERS’ investment in rea/ estate as of June 30 con-
sists of:

'1991 o 1990

Land - $ 26,379,091 $§ 25,534,332

Buildings 149,458,643 144,795,769
Commingled real

estate funds - - 161,552,281 158,614,857

337,390,015 - 328,944,958

Less accumulated S _ ,

depreciation . 28,872,422 24,281,074

$ 308,517,593 § 304,663,884

The following is a summary of minimum future lease
revenues on noncancellable operating leases ‘related
to SERS’ investment in real estate as of June 30,
1991:

Year ending June 30,

71992 : $ 14,779,769
1993 12,083,186 ,
1994 8,973,427 .
1995 7,599,181
71996 6,201,056
Thereafter - 42,255,306

Total minimum future - : :

* lease revenues

$ 91,891,925

—Deprec/at/on expense on the above real estete ag-

gregated $5,400,773 and $4,687,204 in 1991 and
1990, respecttvely and is included in net reel estate
income.

(7) Property and Equipment (Non—lnvestment
Assets)

A summary of pro,oerty and equment at June 30
follows: '

- 1991 1990 *
Land ’ $ 1,178,055 $ 1,178,055
Building and : , S :
improvements 3,959,106 3,945,326
Furniture and o )
equipment 5,694,644 4,953,606
. 10,831,805 10,076,987
Less accumiilated : : ’
depreciation 4,289,445 3,338,976

8 6542360 § 6,738,011

(8) Notes Payable

Notes payab/e at June 30, consist of the following: 1991 1990
10% unsecured notes payable, interest due quarterly with pr/nCIpa/ due May . '
31, 1991, net of discount of $108,237 in 1990........c.ccccoiviniciiiiicvirircorererran, 8 0% 3,054,290

- Total interest expense on the above notes aggregated $389 135 ano’ $454,030 in 1991 and 7990 respectively
and is included in net real estate income, .

\
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'NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contlnued)

(9) Deferred Compensation

Employees of SERS may elect to partlczpate in the
Ohio Public Employees Deferred Compensation Pro- .
gram (Program), created in accordance with Internal
Revenue Code Section 457. Under the Program,"
employses may elect to defer a portion of their pay
.until a later date, usually after retirement. The deferred
pay and any income earned thereon is not subject to
income taxes until actually received by the employee.

As of June 30, 1991, market value of investments in
the Program. totaled $942,222. Under the terms of the
Program agreement, these monies are subject to the
claims of SERS’ general creditors. Accordingly, this
amount is reflected as an asset along with a cor-
responding liability to the employees participating in.

the Program. Participating employees-are general -
creditors of SERS with no preferential claim to the
deferred funds. Investments in the Program are held
by the Program's agent in SERS’ name. .

(10) Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Substantially all SERS full-time employees part/CIpate in
the Public Employees Retirement System of Ohio
(PERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer public
employee retirement system. The payroll for employees
covered by PERS for the year ended June 30, 1991
was $3,368,867; SERS’ total payroll was $3, 726,967.

All SERS full-time employees are eligible to participate
in PERS. Employees are eligible for retirement benefits
" at age 60 with 5 or more years of service credit or at
any age with 30 or more years of service. The benefit
" is based on 2.1% of final average salary multiplied by
the years of service credit for the first 30 years of
credited service and 2.59% for each additional year of
credited service up.to a maximum of 100% of final
average salary or the limits under Internal Revenue -
Code Section 415. Employees retiring before age 65.
with less than 30 years of service credit receive a
percentage reduction in benefit amounts. PERS also
‘provides disability and survivor benefits. Benefits are
established by state statute.

SERS and employee contributions for the year ended
June 30, 1991 were $469,957 and $286,354, respec-
tively; these contributions represented 13.95% and
8.5% of covered employee payroll, respectively, as re-
quired by State statute. Rates are established by the
retirement board upon recommendation by the ac-
tuary. During the most recent actuarial study,
(December 31, 1989) there were no changes in ac-
tuar/al assumptions, benéfit provisions, actuarial fund-

\

s

ing methods or other significant factors except for in-
creasing the assumed rate of return on investments
from 7.50% to 7.75%. During the fiscal year 1997 the
contribution rates established. by the retirement board
and those computed by the actuary were the same.

The “pension benefit obligation" is a standardized
disclosure measure of the present value of penSIOn ,
benefits, adjusted for the effects of projected salary in-
creases, estimated to be payable in the future as a re-’
sult of employee service to date. The measure is the
actuarial present value of credited projected benefits, -
excluding health care benefits, and is interded to help
users assess PERS’ funding status on a going-concern

" basis, assess progress being made in accumulating

sufficient assets to pay benefits when ‘due, and allow
for comparisons among public employee retirement
plans. The measure is independent of the actuarial fund-
ing method used to determine contributions to PERS.

PERS does not make separate measurements of assets
and pension benefit obligation for individual employers.
The pension benefit obligation as of December 31,
1989, ythe date of the most recent actuarial valuation,
for PERS as a whole was $16.7 billion. PERS' net
assets available for benefits (excluding amounts

allocated to health care costs) on that date were §14.7 -~

biflion, leaving an unfunded. pension benefit obligation
of $2.0 billion. PERS does not hold any securities in
the form of notes, bonds or other instruments of any of
the entities contributing to PERS. SERS’ contribution
represented less than 1 percent of total contributions
required of all participating entities.

PERS' Comprehensive Annual Financial Ffeport for the -
year ended December 31, 1990 contains historical
trend information for four years on/y ) B

In addition to pension benefits, PERS prov}des
post-retirement health care benefits to all employees

“who have at leat 10 years of Ohio service credit and
. offers coverage to their dependents on a co-pay basis.

In 1974, PERS was given discretionary authority to
make health care benefits available to retirees and their
dependents. Coverage includes haspitalization, physi-
cians' fees, prescription drugs and reimbursement of.

« monthly Medicare Part B premiums, PERS determines

the amount, if any, of the associated health care costs

. that will be absorbed by PERS.

For the year ended December 31, 1990, PERS
reported $225.6 million for postretirement health care
expense, Of the 13.95% employer contribution rate,
8.53% is allocated for basic benefits, the remainder s
allocated for heaith care.

School Employees Ret/rémeht System of Ohio .
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contmued)

(11) Contingent Liabilities /

SERS is a party in various litigation. While the final
otitcome cannot be determined at this time, manage-

-~ ment is of the opinion that the liability, if any, for
these fegal actions will not have a material adverse
effect on SERS'’ financial position.

( 12) Historical Trend Information

Historical trend information designed to provide infor-
mation about SERS’ progress made in accumulating
sufficient assets to pay benefits when due .is
presented immediately fo/low:ng the notes to the -
financial statements. N

ANALYSIS OF FUNDING PROGRESS

GASB Statement No.'5 requires the presentation of ten years of comparanve actuanal statlstlca/ data, disclosing the
progress made in-accumulating assets to pay benefits when due. Schedule | presents- seven years and Schedule I’

presents nine years of data, since ten years are not available,

Schedule | Basic Retirement Benefits - :
(3 Amounts in Millions) (6)
' . (4) Unfunded Pension
L o 3. Unfunded Benefit Obligation
Net Assets (2) Percentage Pension Benefit (5) as a Percent of

Fiscal Available Pension Benefit Funded Obliyation Covered \ Covered. Payroll
Year for Benefits Obligation (1) divided by (2) (2) minus (1} - Payroll (4) divided by (5)
1985 A $ 1,556 $ 2257 . 68.9% $ 701 $ 804 . 87.2%

1986 1,747 ) 2,511 - 69.6 764 869 . , 879 -
1987 1,930 2,646 72.9 716 931 76.9

1988* 2,107 3,017 69.9 910 982 92.6

1989 2,311. 3,346 ) 69.1 1,035 1,055 98.1.

1990 . 2,613 3,662 68.6 1,149 1,119 - © 1027

1991 ** © 2,722 4,214 . 6‘4 6 1,492 - 1,176 . 126.8

Health Care Benef:ts
(% Amounts in Millions) i

1985 -8 120 $§ 656 18.3% $ '536 $ 804 . 66.7%

1986 ~ 129 830 15.5 701 569 80.7
1987 133 1,006 13.2 873 . 931 93.8

1988* 133 - 991 . 13.4 858 982 © 874

1989 144 - 1,065 : 13.5 921 - 1,055 87.3

1990 149 ., ~ 1,135 ' 13.1 986 1,119 88.1

1991** 141 1,241 ) 11.4° 1,100 1,176 93.5

Analysis of the dollar amounts of net assets available
for benefits, pension benefit obligation (both basic
retirement and health care benefits), and unfunded
pension benefit obligation in isolation can bg
misleading. Ex,oresszng the net assets available for
benefits as a-percentage of the pension benefit
obligation provides bne indication of SERS’ funding
status on a going-concern basis. Analysis of this
percentage over time indicates whether SERS is
becoming financially stronger or weaker. Generally,
the greater this percentage, the stronger SERS is:
Trends in unfunded pension benefit obligation and

annual covered payroll are both affected by inflation.
Expressing the unfunded pension benefit obligation
as a percentage of annual covered ,oayro// approx-
imately adijusts for the effects. of inflation and aids
analysis of SERS’ progress made in accumulating
sufficient assets to pay benefits when due. Generally,
the. smaller this percentage, the stronger SERS'is.

The actuarial assumptions for investment return, post-
retirement mortality, and participation in health care
premiums are revised periodically based on SERS’
experience. .

* In fiscal 1988, ,o/an benefit provisions were amended. The amendments had the effect of increasing the pens:on
" benefit obligation for basic benefits by $119.8 mllllon and decreasing the penSIOn benefit obligation for hea/th

care by $199.3 million.

** Changes to actuarial assumptions for fiscal 1997 jncreased the pension benefit ob//gat/on for basic benefits by

: $49 5 million and for health care by $7.0 million.

See acqompanymg independent auditors’ report.
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Schedule Il S ) ‘ oo
. 3 'Revenues By Source
T ] _ ) Employer Contribution
Fiscal Member Employer Investment Other o Rate as a. Peicent
' Year Contributions Contributionls Income Revenues Total - of Covered Payroll
1983 $ 57,302,477 & 86,862,61% $107,416,567 v$3,489,140 $255,070,795 - 12.5%
1984 67,503,890 . 106,886,556 145215463 2,944,271 322,550,180 14.0-
1985 73,117,682 o1 79,74’5,737 153,934,029 3,004,376 . 349,207,82_4 14.0
1986 78,979,863 130,507,996 4 171,115,676 - 3,333,819 383,937,354 14.0
1987 84,848,170 135,032,693 - 175,493,200 2,521,825 . 397,895,888 14.0
1988 89,667,853 145,784,980 161,724,032 2,280,893 ' 399,457,758 14.0
1989 96,422,050 171,094,710 193,830,887 2,448,403 463,796,050 14.0
- 1990 104,105,361 18_0,544,371 196,527,043 2,569,782 483,746,557 14.0
1991 109,310,197 188465132 201,820,479 . 1,981,749 501,577,557 140 7
Expenses By Type
’ Transfers to
‘ . " other Ohio
" Fiscal Administrative - Retirement ) . -
year Benefits Expenses Systems Refunds Other Total
, 1983 - $119,831,633 $4,';§5i,778 s $1,215,546 $8,619,474 — $ 133,718,431
1984 131,848,435 , 4,658,760 1,181,012 7,827,632 $ 879,498 146,395,337
1985 146,785,150 - =« 5,673,205 1,48'6,990 - 8,373,795 — 162,319,140
1986 166,606,773 5,863,596 1,901,100 9,058, 221 ‘ — 183,429,690
1987 192,787,851 6,599,526 1,498,114 10,267,756 — 211,153,247
1988 204,178,239 6,689,009 2,131,150 9,791,762 N 222,790,160
1989 . 227,333,363 7,419,675 1,630,410 11,468,175 - 247,851,623
1990 255,285,627 7,942,036 1,983,908 12,532,925 — 277,744,496
1991 276,§25,099 8,346,903 2,202,383 12,345,363 - 299,819,748
See accompanying-independent auditors’ report. .
{
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Revenues By Source
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_ ADMINISTRATIV_E EXPENSES

Schedule //I , : ‘ .
Years ended June 30, 1991 and 1990 o ' ' 1991 , 1990

Personnel services: . : ' ,
Salaries and wages g o ’ $ 3,726,967 8 3,746,576
Retirernent contributions _ _ S | ' 469,957 - 469,847
Insurance ‘ o . . 416,992 . ,368,608
" Total personnel services - f » 4,613,916 4,585,031
Professional services: . . : '
Technical and actuarial - : . 293,638 : : 389,726
Medical . : } .. 241,093 - 194,815
Auditing . ' ~ 57,635 62,550
Employee training o : i 46,729 77,215
Total professional services . o ' 639,095 : 724,306
Communications: - . A | , '
Postage ; - .-.3830757 - . . 251,501
- Printing and pub//cat/ons o ) 164,293 " . . 59,455
Telephone - , , 54,114 49,609
Retirement counseling services : - 10,449 _ ' 11,590
Total communications . - o 559,613 372,245

Other services and chaiges: , _ .
Computer support services - ‘ ' 630,205 - 549,893

Building occupancy and ma/ntenance : ST - 260,695 235,264
~ Transportation and travel v e , , 185,789 131,201
Supplies . L ' 89,766 70,996

Equipment rental " , ) 89294 - . 109,915
Surety bonds and insurance - 79,976 81,335
Memberships and subscriptions 44,208 ' 52,317
Equipment repairs and maintenance - o ' ’ ..34,730 43,568
Retirement study commission - ‘ 28,567 . 22,779
Miscellaneous . L 36,893 ' 110,076
Total other services and charges . 1,480,123 © . 1,407,344

' ' ' 7,292,747 . 7,088,926

Depreciation (nén-investment): _
Furniture and equipment o . 954,055 . 753,459

Building - ' '_ ©100,101 - 99,651
Total depreCIatlon g . o 1,054,156 . 853,110

Total administrative expenses - | o $ 8,346,903 $ 7,942,036

1
!

See accompénying‘independem auditors’ report.
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INVESTMENT SUMMARY.
- Schedule IV ‘
L - Year ended June 30, 1991
- 1990 ' ' 1991

,Sales, . % of

Purchases ‘Redemptions - o Total
Carrying - Market and and ' Carrying . Market Market
‘ Atcruals Value - . Value Value

Value
Corporate,and govern- -, :
ment bonds .and

Value Accretions

615,720,281. $ 624,347,959 § - 407,654,504 $ (315341,128/$ 708,033,657 § 732,463,940 22.7%
i ! » ¢ L ’ R

-obligations 8 o
First mortgage loans N . i
and mortgage-backed ; : : C :
securities ’ 600,815,699 623,682,077, 168, {503, 847 (128,120,091) ‘641,199,455 673,120,143 20.9
' Common and . o o . : ,
preferred stocks 804, 947,3'88' 1,192,193,415 195,689,431 (81,643,499) 918,987,320 1,361,391,374 422
Short-term . ' ‘
investments 163,974,710 163,974,710  2402,317,297 = (2,450,751,284) 115, '540,_ 723 115,540,723 3.6
Real estate’ 304,663,884 326,461,902 17,335,051 (13,481,342) 308,517,593 ‘ 318,149,920 - 9.8
Venture capital N . . ' 4
investments 25,717,463 -, 24,752,213 -5,250,000 (4,174,250) 26,793,213 25,291,713 08
Total : o R . » ' :
investments - $2,515,833,425 $2,955,412,276 $3,196,750,130 $(2,993,511,594) $2,719,071,961 $3,225,957,813 100.0%
' " Year ended June 30, 1990
1989 . 1990
= _ Sajes, % of
Purchases Redemptions - i _ Total
Carrying Market " and and Carrying © Market Market
: Value Value Accretions Accruals Value Value Value
Corporate and govern- . :
ment bonds and ' : .
obligations $ 545589142 § 564,262,201 § 358,629,785 § (288,498,646)% 615,720,281 § 624,347,958 21.1%
First mortgage loans ‘ ’ ' ' '
and mortgage-backed . _ Lo .
securities 613,885,268 639,678,675 . 121,778,009 (134,847,578) 600,815,699 623,682,077 21.1
Common and B c . o " B .
preferred stocks 699,578,406 ) 986,297,469 179,667,665 (74,304,683) 804,941,388 - 1,192,193,415 ~ 40.3
Short-term , . ) - . I '
investments 183, 876,243 184,386,827 2 777,591,467 (2,797,493,000) 163,974,710 163,974,710 5.6
Real estate ; 263,896,685 292,019, 167 46,079,689 (5,312,490 304,663,884 326,461,902 11.1
Venture capital . . : s
investmgnts 26,661,962 26,661,962 3,881,615 (4,826,114) 25,717,463 24,752,213 0.8
Total ) S
100.0%

- investments

See accompanying -independent auditors’ report. . )

- .$2,333,487,706 $2,693,246,301 $ 3,487,6?8,236 ' $(3,305,282,511) $2,515,833,425 $2,955,412,276

‘
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FUND BALANCE ACCOUNTS
+ Schedule V- - .
Description of Accounts (Funds) - S
Chapter 3309 of the- Ohio Revised Code requires the
establishment and maintenance of specific funds.

These funds are classified as accounts for financial .
reporting purposes and are noted as follows:

(A) Employees’ Savings Fund o (D)
The Employees’ ‘Savings Fund accumulates the L
contributions dequcted from the compensation of .
members. Contributions may be refunded to a
member who withdraws from SERS or to the
member's beneficiary, following the member’s
death. Upon retirement, a.member's accumulated
contributions are transferred to the Annuity and,
Pension Reserve Fund.

- ! . .

Employers’ Trust Fund '

The Employers' Trust Fund is the depository for
employer contributions. Based ‘on actuarial walua-
tions, amounts are transferred out of this fund into
the Annuity and Pension Reserve Fund and the

(E)
B

_ ()

Survivors' Benefit Fund.

(@] ‘ Annuity and Pension Reserve Fund. -
The Annuity and Pension Reserve-Fund is the
fund from which all retirement, health care and
death benefits are paid. Funds are transferred into

.

E;hployees’

]

the Annuity and Pension Reserve Fund from the
Employeés’ Savings Fund and Employers’ Trust
Fund. In addition, contributioris by the State: of
Ph/g for supplemental benefits are recorded in this

Survivors’ Benefit Fund }
The Survivors' Benefit Fund represents :amounts
transferred from the Employees’ Savings Fund. and

‘the Employers’ Trust Fund for the payment of sur-

vivors' benefits.

I

Guarantee Fund.

" The Guarantee Fund records all investment earn-

ings of SERS. Annually, investment earnings are
transferred to the Annuity and Pension Reserve
Fund, the Survivors’ Benefit Fund, and the Ex-

_pense Fund.

Expense Fund \ -
The Expense Fund is used to reqord all expenses
for the administration and management of SERS.
Annually, funds are transferred from the Guarantee
Fund to cover expenses incurred.

‘A summary of the fund balance accounts follows:

A r

Year ‘eqded\ June 30, 1991 : Do .

Annuity and  Survivors’
Savings Employers’ Pension - ' Benefit  Guarantee Expense " Total

Fund balance at Funq Trust-Fund Bese_rve Fund Fund Fund " Fund 1991. /1990 .
beginning of year $ 683,872,888 § (579,851,401) § 2,423,360,341 $ 134,275,724 —_ - $ 2,661,597,552 § 2,455,595,(497
Changes for the year: : R » - ‘ :
Contributions: ’ )

Employers’ — 188,465,132 - - — — 188,465,132 180,544,371

Employees 109,310,197 - - — - - 109,310,197 104,105,361

State of Ohio - o .

subsidies — 886,853 — — - - ) 886,853 983,082
Investment income - — : . _ 201,820,479 - 201,820,479 196,527,043,
Transfers from . ' ’ ’ .
other Ohio systems o _ . —_ 1,043,358 51,538 — - 1,094,896 1,586,700
Benefits: . ' ' ’

Retirement — — (173,348,030) —_ —~— — (173,348,030) (162,866,492)
. Disability -— — ~(19,854.430) - — - — - (19,854,430) (18,077.033)

Survivor — — — ( 11,358,736) -— — (11,358,736) (10,886,380)

Health care — — (71 ,_633,065)_ — — - (71,633,065) (62,746,014}
~ Death — . — ' (730,838) — — — (730,838) (709,708)
Refunds of ,' ’ !
emplpyee contributions (12,345,363} ' — — —_ - —_ - (12,345,363) (12,532,925) -
Administrative expenses. — — - - — (8,346,903) - (8,346,903) (7,942,036)
Transfers to .
other Ohio systems — — (2,104,524) (97.859) - - (2,202,383) (1,983,908)
Other transfers (31,994,224) (192,802,942) 399,607,316 18,663,426 (201,820,479} 8,346,903 =’ . —
Net changes " 64,970,610 (3,450,957) 7,268,369 < - 201,757,809 206,002,061

132,979,787

Fund balance at

end of year $ 748,783,498 $ (583,302,358) § 2,556,340,128 $ 141,534,093

$2,863,355,367 $2,661,597,552

See accompanying independent auditqrs‘ report.

~
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AUDITOR OF STATE’S LETTER

) /
1.
THOMAS E. FERGUSON _ o .
. : " AUDITOR OF STATE ‘ a . s '
- ‘ RO.Box 1140 + Columbus, Ohio 43266-0040 + [614]466-4514 ) -
' ] K . N . .
N
? Members of the Retirement Board

School Employees Retirement System of Ohio

Columbus. Ohio

We have reviewed the report of the audit of the Balance Sheet, (With Ve

Independent’ Auditors Report Thereon), and the related statements of Revenues,

Expenses, and Changes In Fund Balances, and of Cash Flows, of the Schoeol ’

Employee's Retirement System for the Year Ended June 30, 1991, as prepared by

Deloitte & Touche, Cerfified Public Accountants. Based upon .this review, we

have accepted this report in lieu of the examination required.by Section 117.43

of the Revised Code. The Auditor of State has not examined the documentation

"supparting the financial statements and’ veports, and accerdingly, is unable to.

express an oplnlon oh them. - . \

T ) . our review was made.in reference to the applicable séctions of legislative

criteria as reflected by the Ohio Constitution; the Revised Code; policies,

procedures and guidelines of the Auditor of State; and local resolutions/

erdlnances’

I THOMAS E, FERGUSON .
’ _Auditor of State /
_December 5, 1991 ‘
ks 1
/

i
Information Line toll free 1-800-282-0370

s . . . , .
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" Actuarial Section

- ACTUARY'S LETTER

GABRIEL, ROEDER, SMITH & CQMPANY

Actuaries & Consuftants

24 Woorbine Avenue < Northport, New York 11768 + 516-757-0047

' -

o November 11, 1991 . \ ' _ L .

!
The Retirement Board ' : '
School Employees Retirement System of Qhio
Columbus, Ohio . ) . . |
The basic financial objective of SERS is to establish and receive contributions
. which, expressed as percents of active member payrell, will remain approximately
- Jevel from generation to generation of Ohig citizens. - |

/ "~ In order to determine -SERS present fimancial position and level contributio
- rates for the future, apnual actuarial valuations are made.
The latest completed actuarial valudtion is based upon data and assumptions

‘as of June 30, 1991. Conditions and results are shown -in our reports.,

-+ Assumptions-concerning future financial experiences are needed for an actuarial
valuation. These assumptions are established.by the Board after consulting with ~
the actuary. . I . . - .

A program of annual actwarial gain/loss analysis is in operation; these
analyses determine the relationship "between assumed financial experience and
actual experience, for each major risk area. : . )

~ These actuarial gajn/loss findings led to the adoption of substantial
revised assumptions for the June 30, 1991 actuarial valuation. The assumep
premiums for health care coverages are changed annually as premiums are changed
by health care providers. : - 4 ! ‘
! © ,The statutory employer contribution rate is 14% of pay. .An SERS policy decision
* now provides the following allocations: to basic benefits, the portion which

~ _ will pay normal.cost and 40 year amortization for unfunded actuarial accrued
Tiabilities; and -to health care benefits, the- remainder of employer
contributions. ’ ) : . .

S ) On_the basis of the 1991 valuation and the basic benefits and allocated

contribution rates then in effect, it is our opinion that the basic benefits

5 portion of SERS is in sound condition in accordance with actuarial principles of
- level cost financing. - : - . ‘

"™  The financial condition of health care benefits is different, and is being
significantly affected by the provisions of Act 290 of 1988. Act 290 established

" a health care.surcharge, a program to determine a minimum annual pay for use in ~
-calculating employer contribution-dollars., . ’

. N
- On_the basis of the 1991 valuation and the health care benefits apd allocated
- contribution rates then in effect, the allocated contributions are sufficient to .
rovide 'level percent financing of the health care benefits if future health care. /
cost inflation does not exceed future general price inflation. .

- ]

o
Respectfi%l§ submitted, ,
Thoflag/ J. Gavana Richard G. Roeder ’
TaC/ka

4
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STATEMENT OF ACTUARY
(Valuation as of June 30, 1991)

. . i i
Actuarial Cost Method and Assumptions
Basic Retirement Be:nefits

Employer contribut/on rates for.basic benefits are

determined usmg the entry age normal actuarial cost

method. This method produces an employer con-
_tribution rate conS/stzng of (1) an amount for normal
cost (the éstimated amount necessary to finance.
benefits earned by employees during the current ser-
vice year), and (2) the amount for amortization of the
unfunded actuarial accrued //ab///ty The maximum:
_ Sstatutory rate is 14%.

’The'p‘resent employer contribution rate of 14% is '

allocated between basic benefits and health care on

the basis of SERS policy decision. ‘The current policy
requires the determination of a rate for basic benefits
which will amortize the unfunded actuarial accrued

liabilities over a 40-year period, with the remainder of

- the employer contribution rate allocated to providing
health care benefits. At June 30, 1991, the rate thus
determined for the funding of basic ret/rement
benefits is 9 63%

N\

Health Care Benefits

~Initially, beginning in 1974, the contribution rate for

- health care benefits was established at 0.75%, in-
cluded in a total employer contribution rate of
12.5%. Health care contribution rates Have been in-
creased at various times since 1974, and the total
employer contribution rate has been increased to the
statutory 14% mdximum. The portion of the employer
contribution rate allocated to health care currently is
4.37%, which is insufficient by itself to provide level
cost financing of the unfunded actuaril accrued
health care liabilities. This is primarily due to thé
relatively low average salaries of the SERS con-
~ tributing members.

. )

Recent Ohio v/eg/slat/‘on', Act 290 of 1988, provided
“for an-employer contribution surcharge to fund health
care-benefits. The surcharge is equal to 14% of the
difference between the minimum pay and the
member’s pay, pro-rated for partial service credit. For
the fiscal years 1991 and 1992, the minimum pay
has been established as $9,700 and $9,900 respec-

Actuarial Seciiqn’ "

i

tively. Thé surcharge raté added to the unallocated

. “portion of the 14% employer contribution rate, results :

in a total health care contribution rate of 5.81%. This
rate is sufficient to provide level cost financing of the -
unfunded actuarfal accrued liabilities for health care
benefits assuming future health care cost inflation. *
does not exceed future general price inflation.

. Actuarial Assumptions .

' The éssumptions used for the actuarial valuation

were adopted by the Retirement Board after con-
sulting with the actuary. Differences between assumed .
and actual experience (actuarial gains and losses)

become part of unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities.

. When these differences between assumed and acitual

experience have been observed-to be sizeable and
persistent a change is made to thé actuarla/
assumptions.

The valuation assets as of June 30, 1991 were deter-
mined on a market refated basis. The method- used
recognizes 20% of the previously unrecognized gains
and losses (both realized and unrealized). To this
was added the present value of expected future
payments for House Bills 284 and 204, or

- $4,002,160.

The following significant assumptions were used iri
the actuarial valuations as of June 30, 1991:

(1) a rate of refu,rn on the investments of 7.75%

- compounded annually (net after administrative
expenses). The real rate of return is the portion
of total investment return which is more than the
inflation rate. Considering inflation recognition of
4.75 percent, the 7.75 percent investment return
rate translates to an assumed real rate of return

. of 3 percent. - n

(2) projected salary increases of 4.75%, compound-
ed annually, attributable to inflation;

(3) additional projected salary increases ranging
.from 0% to 3% per year attributable to seniority
and merit. Pay increase assumptions for in-
" dividual active members are shown for sample

Scho\o/’Emp/de,es F?eyz‘/'rément System"of Ohio -



Actuan‘al

Section

STATEMEN_T OF ACTUARY (Continued)
(Valuation’as of June 30, 1991)

ages in the fo//owmg table.

Increase Next Year ~

Merit &

@

Sample Base .
Age Seniority - (Economy) Total
20 . 30%, 4,75% 7.75%
30 : 23 4.75 7.05
40 © 1.8 475 6.55
50 : 1.0 4.75 5.75
60 . 0o 4.75 4.75
el/g/b///ty for age and.service refirement was

assumed to be: age 50 with 30 or more years of

service; or age 55 with 25 or ymore years of ser-

vice, or age 60 with.5 or more years of service.
Probabilities of retirement with an age and ser-
vice allowance are shown in the fo//owmg fable
for sample ages. :

Probabilities of Age & Service Ret:rement

Percent of Eligible Active Members
Retiring within Next Year

G

(6)

}

Sample Ages Men - Women
50 . 15% 12%
55 10 . 18
60 10 } 25
65 40 35
70 50 50
75 100 100

mortality of participants based on the 1971
Group Annuity Mortality Table ,oro;ected to 1984
set back one year for women and men.’

rates of separation from active service beforé

retirement are developed on the basis of actual

plan experience. Probabilities of separation for
" sample ages are shown in the following table.

Probabilities of Separation .from Active

Employment before Age & Service Retirement

¢

" (Percent of Active Members

Separating within the Next Year) .
Men
Sample ) :

Ages Death Disability Other
20 ©0.02% - 0.00% 6.09%
30 0.04 0.06 4.60
40 . 0.08 0.36 3.42
50 0.24 080 3.0

2.20

60 - 060 = -

N

Probabilities of Separation from ;dcfive

Employment before Age & Service Retirement

. (Percent of Active Members
Separating within the Next Year)

' Women
Sample '
- Ages Death Disability =~ Other
20 0.01% - 0.00% 8.04%
30 0.02 0.00 6.31 -
40 0.04 0.14 -3.95 ¢
50 008 0.32 2.67
60 021 - _ 2.66
(7) health care premium lncreases of 4. 75% annually

[

with 25% of eligible female retirants and 60% of
eligible male retirants electing a joint and surviver
form of payment and 25% of eligible female
retirants and 50% of eligible male- retirants elec-
ting to cover spouses for health care; and

eligibility of all health care benefit recipients for

 Medicare on attainment of age 65, or immediate-

- ly if retired for disability.

Health Care Premium Rates:

“ Monthly . Rates Reported

Status 1991 1990
Benefit recipient below age 65 $ 297.12 '$ 248.10
Spouse below age 65™ 53.25 47.23
" Benefit recipient above age 65 v '
and eligible for Medicare 53.18  44.88°
Spouse abave age 65 and : .
gligible for Medicare™ 15.98 13.97
Mail order prescription service 29,67

1

- 30.92
System portion. '

Medicare Part B Premium: $24.80 per month. | This
premium is paid by the System.)

The actuarial assumptions used in making the valua-
"tion were revised as set forth in the Gabriel, Roeder,
Smith & Company Investigation Report dated June 3,

1991 for the period from July 1, 1985 through June

30, 1990.°

gt SCh’Q(jI Employees Reiifrem’entt System of-Ohio



STATEMENT OF ACTUARY (Continued)
(Valuation as of June 30, 1991)

Actuarial Accrued Liabilities '

Accrued liabilities are the present value of plan pro-
mises to pay benefits in the future, based upon ser-
vice. already rendered. A liability has been established
(“accrued”) because the service has been per-
formed, but the resulting monthly-cash benefit may
not be payable until years in the future. Accrued

Actuarial Accrued Liabilities June 30, 1991

1

Present Value Of

—— 'VActuqriaI Section

2

liabilities dre the result of complex mathematical
calculations performed by a group of specialists, the
plan’s actuaries. The results of the computed ac-
tuarial accrued liabilities, using the entry age normal
actuarial cost method, are disclosed in the following
schedule. } '

Actuarial
Accrued Liabilities
'Health Care  Basic Benefits

Future monthly benefits and death benefits to present retirants and survivors .. § 725,195,310 § '1,972,678,91_] :

Monthly benefits and refunds to present inactive members
Service allowances and health care benefits, to present active members ........ .
Disability allowances and health caré benefits to present active members ........
Death-after-retirement benefit ($500) on behalf of present active members ... -—
Survivor benefits on behalf of present active members who die before retiring .- ‘
Refunds of member contributions of present active members

Benefits for present active members .....................c.......

Benelfits for present covered persons .........li.....c.........

ot s $ 1,311,057,365 $ 4,346,127,523

................................. 55,507,516 75,505,693 .
515,135,677  2,149,483,506
6,789,897 87,803,195
, - 1,254,908
8,428,965 27,774,930
............................ ~ 31,626,380

530,354,539 2,297,942,919

Membership Data

Information regarding active, inactive, and_'retired -
mernbers is obtained from computer tapes provided -
by the retirement system. Membership data

* Active Member Valuation Data, 1982 to 1991

contained on the computer tapes is examined and
tested for reasonableness.

Retirants and Beneficiaries Added To
and Removed From Rolls, 1982 to 1991

Actuarial Number of Annual Average Fiscal Year ] ,
Valuation-  Active Payroll Annual Ended Additions:  Deletions  Number at
as of June 30 Members (millions) Salary ~June 30 During Year During Year End of Year

1982 85,883 § 652.2 $ 7,594 1982 2,953 924 32,863
1983 85,186 682.9 8,017 1983 3,215 1,708 34,970
1984 . 84,761 737.3 - 8,699 1984 3,145 1,315 36,800
1985 86,838 - 804.2 9,261 1985 3,233 1,325 . 38,708
1986 88,310 869.1 9,842 1986 . 3,807 1,478 41,037
1987 89,534 931.4 10,403 1987 3,155 °1,622 42,670
1988 90,418 . = 981.8 10,858 1988 3,512 2215 . 43,967
1989 . 91,778 - 1,055.4 11,500 1989 3,140 1,432 45,675 -
1990 93,147 1,118.7 12,010 1990 3,714 2,072 47,317
1991 93,574 1,176.2 12,570 1991 3,534 2,384 © 48,467

- School ,Emp/qyeeé Retirement System bf. Ohio



Actuarial Section

SUMMARY OF UNFUNDED ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Each time a new benefit is added which applies to .
service already rendered, an “‘unfunded .agcrued

liability'" is created. Laws governing the System re-

quire that these “‘unfunded accrued liabilities” be
financed systematically over a period of future years.
Also, if actual financial experiences are less favorable
than assumed financial experiences, the difference is
added to unfunded accrued liabilities.

4

In an inf/at/onar_y economy, the value of the dollar is
decreasing. This environment regults in employee
pay increasing in dollar amounts, retirement benefits

-

increasing in dollar amounts, and then unfunded ac-

- erued liabilities increasing in dollar amounts; all at a

time. when the -actual substance of these items may
be decreasing. Looking at just the dollar amounts of
unfunded accrued liabilities can be misleading. Un-
funded accrued liabilities divided by active employee
payroll provides an index which clarifies understan-

ding. The smaller the ratio of unfunded liabilities to
active member payroll, the stronger the system.
Observation of this relative index over a period of
years will give an indication of whether the system is
becoming financially stronger or weaker.

BASIC BENEFITS ($ In Millions)

/

4 UAAL as
Unfunded a % of
Actuarial _ Acjuarial Ratio of Active Active
Valuation Accrued Valuation Accrued Assets Member Member
Year Liabilties (AAL) Assets Liabilities (UAAL) to AAL " Payroll P,ayron
1982 $ 1,821 $ 1,116 - § 705 61% $ 652 108%
1983 1,987 1,221 . 766 61 683 112
1984 2,166 1,390 776 64 737 105
1985 2405 1,564 841 65 . 804 105
o 1985* 2,422 1,564 858 65 " 804 107
1986 2,670 1,781 889 67 869 102
1987 2,899 2,007 892 69 931 L 96
1988# 3,307 2,204 1,103 67 982 112
1989 - 3,658 2,438 1,220 67 1,055 116
1990 4,003 . 2,686 . 1,317 67 1,119 118
1991 4,265 3,015 1,250 -71 7 1,176 106
1991+ 4,346 3,015 1,331 69 1,176 113
HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (% In Millions) ! '
© 1982 $ 436 - $ 86 $ 350 20% - $ 652 54%
1983 539 . 103 436 19 683 64
1984 627 108 519 ‘ 17 737 70
1985 681 120 561 ' 18 ' 804 70
1985* 760 120 640 16 804 80
1986 865 131 734 15 - 869 J 85
1987 1,051 - 137 914 13 931 98
1988# 1,051 139 912 13 982 93
1989 1,128 152 976 14 1,055 93
1990 1,205 158 1,047 13 1,719 94
1991 1,295 157 1,138 12 1,176 97
1,311 157 N, 154 12 1,176 .98

1991

* Revised Assumptions ‘
# Legislated Benefit Increases

~ School Employees Retirerent System of Ohio



Actuarial Seétion

STATEMENT OF ACTUARY (Continued)
(Valuation as of June 30, 1991)
Short Condition Test

If the contributions to SERS are Jevel in concept and -

soundly executed, the System will pay all promised
benefits when due — the ultimate test of finan-
cial soundness. Testing for level contribution rates
is the long-term test. -

A short condition test is one means of checking a-
system’s progress under its funding program. In a
short condition test; the plan’s present assets (cash
and investments) are compared with:

1) Active member contributions on deposit;

2) The liabilities for future benefits to present ret/red o

\

3} . The liabilities for service already rendered by ac-
tive members.

In a system that has been following the discipline of .
level' percent of payroll financing, the liabilities for ac-
tive mempber contributions on deposit (liability 1) and
the liabilities for future benefits to present retired lives
(liability 2) will be fully covered by present assets (ex-
cept in rare Cfrcumstances) In addition, the liabilities
for service already rendered by active membérs
(liability 3) will be partially covered by the remainder
of present assets. The larger the funded portion of

 liability 3, the stronger the condition of the System.

Liability 3 being fully-funded is rare, ,

lives; I
BASIC BENEFITS ($ In Millions)
‘ : - Portion of Accrued'
: * Ljabilities
(1 (2) "(3) , 4 Covered by Assets
- .ll‘/lember Retired Present Members Valuation )
June 30 ‘Contributions Lives (Employer Portion) Assets (1) 2 -~ 3
1982 - $ 324 $ 829 $ 668 81,116 100% 9%6% . - 0%
. 1983 . 352 909 726 1,221 100 - 96 0
1984 396 1,011 759 1,390 - 100 ‘98 0
1985 433 1,126 846 . 1,564 - 100 100 1
1985* 433 ) 1,101 , 888 D 1,564 100 100 3
1986 475 1,228 967 ' 1,781 100, 100 8
1987 524 1,341 1,034 2,007 100 100 14
1988# 577 - _ 1,513, 1,217 T 2,204 100 100 9
1989 627 v 1,696 ' 1,335 - 2,438 100 100 9
1990 ~684 1,872 1,447 - 2,686 100 100 9
1991 749 2,025 1,491 3,015 100 100 16
19971 * 749 1,973 1,624 3,015 100 100 16 .
F .
HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (% In Millions)
: S / - Portion of Accrued
- . Liabilities
(1) (2) | (3) . (4) Covered by Assets

_ . Member Retired Present Members . Valuation -

June 30 Contributions Lives "(Employer Portion)’ Assets (1) (2) (3)
1982 — $ 243 $ 193 $ 86 — 35% 0%
1983 — 304 . 235 1083 : — 34 0
1984 — 361 266 , 108 = 30 0
1985 — 386 295 120 — 31 0
1985~ — 391 369 120 - .31 0
1986 — 461 404 131 - . 28 0
1987 — 562 - 489 137 — 24 0
19884# — : 1 584 467 139 . - 24 0
1989 - 640 488 152 — 24 0
1990 — 686 519 158 — 23 o
1991 - 731 564 157 - r21 0
1991* . — 725 586 157 ] 22 0

* Revised Assumptions ' .

# Legislated Benefit Increases

School Emp/oyeés Retirement System of Ohio



" Actuarial Section

Expenses By Type | : -
(Millions of Dollars)
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Administrative - . Benefits
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‘Statistical Section

n Asset Cove}age of Accrued Liabilities
\*l lBenef/t Expenses By Type '

B Number of Bénefjt Recipients By Typé_
W Number of Participating .Emp/byérs

B Retirement Averages




Statistical Section

COMPARA TIVE SUMMARY OF ACCRU‘:D LIABILITIES AND PERCENTAGE COVERED BY NET

ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

1
/

Table |
) A
' Computed Actuarial Accrued Liabilities
- . " . Percentage of -
Current Active Members, Net Assels Accrued Liabilitie$
! Retirants " Employer Available - Cavered by Net
Fiscal Member - v and , " Financed for Assets Available
Year "Contributions Beneficiaries . Portion Benefits for Benefits
: ! ' ' (M (2 (3
. 19@2 - $ 324,180,388 $ 1,071,728280 $ 860,604,478 1,189,392,619 100 81 o
1983 _ 351,781,439 1,213,688,792 961,162,916 1,314,052,816 100 79 0
1984 396,230,502 1,371,162,368 1,025,589,11T 1,488,850,477 100 80 .0
1985 432,528,863 - 1,611,799,217 - 1,141,424,734 1,675,733,167 . 100 82 S0
1986 475,218,163 1,688,209,450 .1,371,411,464 7,.876,240,825 . 100 83 0.
1987 524,262,202 1,903,559,908. 1,522,516,727 2,062,983,466 100 81 0
1988 577028334 - 2,096,925418 - . 1,684,513116  2239,657,064 100 79 0
1989 627,076,019 2,336,503,192. 1,821,748,962 2,455,595,491 100 - 78 . .0
‘\'1990 683,812,888 2,557,636,065 1,967,248,110 . 2,661,597,552 100 . 77 0
1991 748,783,498 100 78 0

| 2,210,527,169

2,697,874,221

NOTE: The ultimate test of financial soundness-is the
System’s ability to pay all promised benefits when
due. The System's progress in accumulating assets
to pay all premised benefits can be measured by
comparing the present assets of the System with (1)
member contributions, (2) the liability for future
benefits payable to current retirants and

- beneficiaries, and (3) the employer-financed portion
of the liability for benefits payab/e to active plan
participants.

In a System that has been fo//owrng the drscrp//ne of

level percent of payroll financing, the liabilities for ac-
tive member contributions on deposit (1) and the

1

© 2,863,355,361 -

’

liabilities for future benef/ts to present ret/red lives(2) .

“will be fully covered by present assets (except in rare

circumstances). In addition, the liabilities for service
already rendered by active members (3) will be par-
tially covered by the remainder of present assets.

The larger the funded portion of liability (3) the
stronger the condltron of the System. //ab//ﬂy 3 being

~ fully funded is rare.

In Tab/e | the entry age normal actuarial cost method
was used to determine the actuarial liability. The en-
try age rormal actuarial cost method is the same

- method used to determine employer and employee

contribution rates.

~ School Employees Aefiement System of Ofio.



BENEFIT EXPENSES BY TYPE

Statistical Section

Last Ten Years BENEFITS .
Table I S ' Death
Year Ending . Health Benefits >
June 30 Service Disability Survivor Care and Refunds Total .
1982 $ 64,708,104  § 7,294,601 $ 6240292 §23460,414 '$ 10,340,929 $ 112,044,340
1983 75,497,557 . . 8,076,576 6,756,619 28,959,381 9,160,974 128,451,107
1984 85,444,144 9,270,155 7,389,851 29,153,910 ' - 8,418,007 139,676,067
© 1985 96,910,985 10,527,898 8,004,136 30,778,698 - 8,937,228 155,158,945
1986 - 108,321,454 11,785,441 v 8,360,152 37,499,209 9,698,738 175,664,994
1987 118,726,020 12,780,695 8,958,365 51,728,280 .. 10,862,247 203,055,607
" 1988 129,330,510 14,138,302 9,479,476 50,568,576 10,453,137 213,970,007
1989 144,870,006 15,968,925 10,154,865 55,688,417 12,119,325 238,801,538
. 1990 " 162,866,492 18,077,033 10,886,380 62,746,014 - 13,242,633 267,818,552
1991 173,348,030 . 19,854,430 11,358,736 71,633,065 113,076,201 289,270,462
NUMBER OF BENEFIT RECIPIENTS BY TYPE
Last Ten Years . ' : : : ;
Table Il year Ending . - , . -
June 30 Service Disability Survivor Total
1982 27,955 2,343 2,565 - , 32863
- 1983 29,839 2,473 2,658 34,970
1984 - 31,467 2,602 2,731 36,800
1985 33,145 12,754 2,809 38,708
1986 35,266 2,898 2,873 41,037
-1987 36,750 2,977 2,943 42,670
. 1988 37,877 3,084 3,006 43,967 .
1989 39,408 3,204 S 3,063 45,675
- 1990 40,856 3,349 3,112 . 47,317
1991 41,773 3,518 3,176 | 48,467
NUMBER OF PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS.
. Last Ten Years '
Table 1V ; o . ,
Year ) Total . Counties Locals Cities Villages  Colleges Technical Vocational Other -
1982 769 - 87 376 191 49 2 13 50 1
1983 769 . 87 375 - 192 .49 2 13 50 1
1984 769 g 376 192 49 2 13 - 49 T
1985 768 86 376 . 192 49 2 13 49" 1
1986 - 769 86 378 192 49 2 13 49 2
1987 - 769 . 86 376 192 ' 49 2. 13 49 2
. 1988 768 84 376 192 49 2 13 49 3
1989 766 84 373 - 192 49 2 7 . 51 4
1990 - 766 84 - 373 C 192 49 2 11 Y 4
2 11 51 4

- 1991 - 766 84 372 193 49

;e$MMammﬁgﬂwmmm§mwndomﬂw' B T I SR e T



o o ks 1

Statistical Section

RETIREMENT AVERAGES
Last Ten Years

Table V
Service Retirement
'Year Ending . Service A Monthly . .
June 30 . Credit ' ‘Amount .. Age - "Salary
1982 16.578 $229.24 63.25 $ 8069.35
1983 : 16.617 © 250.60 1 63.14 8,603.00
1984 17.427 29243 = 6385 9,939.34- -
1985 17.821 : 315.79 63.82 . . 10,525.29
1986 . 16.846 ‘ 30473 63.64 -+ 1029251
1987 17.635 32876 6377 - 10,458.45
1988 . 19.019 © 378.29 62.13 11,989.48
1989 19.231 43117 61.40 13,015.82
71990 . 18734 ©424.85 60.75 - 13,034.93
- 1991 _ 18.909 _ 447.56 63.35 , ' 13,352.91
4
Disability Retirement
Year Ending Service Monthly , ,
June 30 Credit : - Amount . Age Salary
1982 13.854, | $324.63 53.00 % 847321
1983 : 13.035 - 323.05 52.29 . 8166.18
1984 14.128 426.96 - 53.20 10,803.67
1985 12.362  402.31 56.69 - : 10,917.61
1986 © 13339 431.18 ' 56.20 v 1087224  _
1987 © 13484 . 466.02 57.42 . 12,184.23
1988 13.086 509.27 54.64 -+ 13,060.46
1989 14.821 56242 T 54,31 - 13,433.88
1990 ' 14.018 ) 551.12 53.51 13,539.55
11991 4 14.517 . ‘ 1598:58 "55.56- 14,414.75 -
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W /nvestment Portfo/jb Dist’r/'but/on
W Investment Report

W Portfolio Samméry :
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| v : ‘
INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO DISTRIBUTION (By Book Value)

June 30, 1991

i
!

Real Estate & Commeré/a/.
- Mortgages 12.1%

Short Term 4'.2% :

s

Venture Capital 1.0%

Common Stocks 33.8% L

%

Residential Mortgage
" Securities 22.9% .

1

'Bonds 26.0%

\ Co

June 30, 1990

; . . . N

Real Estate & Commetcial . Short Term 6.5%

Mortgages 13.3% -

4

Stocks ( Common

Venture Capital 1.0%
, and Preferred) 32.0%

" Residential Mortgage
Securities 22.7%

Bonds 24.5%
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INVESTMENT REPORT -

The U.S. economy entered a recession auring -the
thir quarter of 1990. This. ended an expansionary
period in the U.S. jthat had lasted almost eight years.:

The U.S. experienced negative GNP growth during the .

final quarter of 1990 and the first two quarters of
1991. However, by late in the second quarter of 1991,
the economy seemed to be on a slow growth path
once again. The inflation rate as measured by the

- Consumer Price Index (CPI) slowed dramatically as
. thesrecession unfolded. Before the recession started
inflation was running -at a 6% to 7% rate but as the

recession ended the rate had been reduced to 3. 5%

~ 0 4%. For the fiscal year the CPl was up 4.6%, ap-

,orox/mate/y the same amount as /ast fiscal year.

The strongest sector of the U.S. economy during the
recession was our exporting industries. Because of
this strength the U.S. Trade Deficit was substantially

" lower than the levels realized in our last fiscal year.

For the coming fiscal year, we expect the Trade
Deficit to remain near the levels experienced during
the fiscal year just ended The U.S. Budget Deficit,
however, continues to increase and will probably in-
crease again. during the coming fiscal year. This con-

tinued demand for money by the Federal Government -

to finance the Budget Deficit should put pressure on -
long-term Treasunes to remain around the 7.5% to
8% /eve/ ‘

The market value of the Fund /ncreased from $2.96
billion at the end of our last fiscal year to $3.23 billion

© at this fiscal year-end. Schedule VI demonstrates the

growth of SERS over the last ten years as compared
to the CPIl and the CPIl-Medical Care. $1 invested in

SERS' Fund at the beginning of the period would be -

worth $3.49 as of June 30, 1991. Investment income
earned by the Fund increased to $201.8 million versus
$196.5 million for our last flscal year. On June 30,
1991, the percent of the Fund invested in equities,
based on book value, had increased to 33.8% from
32% last year at this time. The percent invested in
fixed-income securities also increased modestly to

48.9% from 47.2%. The percent of the Fund invested

in real estate and short-term securities decreased
somewhat dur/ng the fiscal year. Real estate declined

. to 12.1% from 13.3% and short-term assets declined

from 6.5% to 4.2%.

'

The stock market ‘had & mediocre year through

June 30, 1991, increasing only 7.4% as measured by

the S&P 500. Fixed-income securities had a better
year returning 10.2% as measured by the Shearson
Govt/Corp. Index. The fixed-income and equity port-

" folios of SERS perfoimed better during the fiscal year

than these indices. The. fixed-income portfolios _
returned 12.2% for the fiscal year and have returned
14:6% annually far the last ten years. We continue to
emphasize high quality bonds and mortgage- -backed - "
securities in the fixed-income portfolio.

SERS’ common stock return for the fiscal yedr was
8.7% which was higher than the S&P 500Q's return of
7.4%. The common stock portfolio has retuined
14.9% annually for the last ten years. We continue to

-increase the percentage of the Fund invested in
.common stock as can be seen in Schedule V. We

hope to be at our legally legisiated limit of 35%, on
a book value basis, ih common stock by the end of
this fiscal year: .

Real estate values nationwide seem to be stabiliz-
ing although values are not expected to increase
over the coming mionths. We have been very
cautious over the last few years in our real estate
program and have been very conservative about .-
committing new cash to this asset class. As
mentioned earlier, real estate assets declined as a
percentage of the portfolio during the last fiscal year
and for the last five years this asset class has declin-
ed from 14.7% of the Fund to the current 12.1%;
ibased on book value. Our real estate portfolio has
returned 7. 9% annually over the last ten years:

The return for the Total Fund for the year ended
June- 30, 1991, was 9.7% and for the last ten years

~our return for the Total Fund has been 13 3%

annually.

We expect the U.S. éoonomy to grow slowly dur-

- - ing the. coming fiscal year, probably around 2.5%.

The lower inflation rates experienced during the se-
cond half of the fiscal year just ended should prevail *

" during much of the coming fiscal year. The dismantl-

ing of the Soviet Union, the absorption of East Ger-
many by West Germany, the possibility of an
Arab/lsraeli peace initiative all provide the potential

for great expectations, but they also provide for & lot.
of uncertainty in the coming months. Uncertainty
breeds volatility in the financial markets and the
volatility experienced during the last few years js ex-
pected to continue in the coming year. We will con-
tinue to emphasize high quality assets which seem to .
represent good long-term value.

" We anticipate that by June 30, 1992, the Fund,
based on book'value, will be invested in the fo//ow-

" ing manner: 49% in fixed-income, 35% in equrt/es

12% in real estate,” 3% in short-term investments,
and 1% in venture capital. '

y

,Sohoo/ "l:,"_mp‘/,Oyees Retirement ’f'Sysremof ,O‘hiﬁo, : o
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. PORTFOLIO SUMMARY
Schedule |

lnvéstment Category

June 30, 19§i

“» June 30, 1990

June 30, 1989

Par Value Book Value Market Value - Market Value Market Value

U.S. Government & . . - . ’ .

Agency Bonds - $ 347,526,437 '3 . 347,942,474 362,638,145 $ 352,299,119 313,443,840

" Corporate Bonds 280,500,000 278,881,476 284,740,100 1-77,246,710_ ,. © 129,102,000

Canadian Bonds 80,500,000 81,209,707 85,085,695 94,802,130 199,928,750
GNMA/FHLMC/FHA _

VA/HUD Mortgages &

Mortgage-Backed _ \ : 7

Pass-Thrus ' 624,593,274 621,272,160 645,555,143 588,047,077 595,563,608 -

" Common and Preferred 7

Stocks & Convertible - , )

Securities 918,987,320 918,987,320 1,361,391,374 1,192,193,415 1,008,085,081
Investment Real Estate

(Inciuding Equity _ . . o ‘ ]

Participating Morigages) . 344,093,883 315,221,467 328,594,920 - 344,976,902 318,174,233
Commercial & Industrial ‘ } . .

Mortgages' 13,223,427 73,22;’;’,427 17,120,000 17,120,000 17,900,000
Venture Capital 26,793,213 ~26,793,213  25291,713 24,752,213 . 26,661,962
Shbrt Term . . '

Investments 115,761,000 , 115,540,723 115,640,723 163,974,710 184,386,827

$ 2,719,071,961. '$ 3,225,957,813 § 2,955,412,276

2,693,246,301

$ 2,751,978,554

=

PORTFOLIO RATES OF RETURN

(Average annual total rate of return for the ‘periods ended June 30)

" Schedule 1l

- One Year Three Years Five Years Ten Years

Asset Category 1991 1988-1991 1986-1991 1981-1991
Equity Portfolios 8.4% 13.9% 11.0% 14.6%

Fixed [ncome Portfolios_ 12.2 11.2 .94 14.6

. Short-Term Investment Portfolio 7.5 8.6 7.9 9.1
Total Fund 9.7% 11.0% ' 9.3% 13.3%
'S & P 500 Index ‘ 7.4% 14.6% 11.9% 15.5%
Shearson Govt’/.Corp Index 10.2% 9.9% - 8.3% 13.2%
Consumer Price Index 4.6% 4.8% 4.5% 4.1%

NOTE: Real Estate Portfolio returns are included in-the total return of the Fund for each. period; and for the last ten
years these assets have returned 7.9% annually. Venture Capital returns are included in the Equity Portfolios return.

Performance returns calculated by Ronald A. Karp Assoc.

i

 School Employees Retirement System of Ohio
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GROWTH OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (By Market Value)

Schedule 1l S .
(Millions of Dollars) - o !

$3500 p—— - ' .

3000

2500

2000

1500

1000

500

1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991
Fiscal Year Ended

GROWTH OF INVESTMENT INCOME (lncludmg Realized Security Gains And Losses) .

Schedule IV - R , -
' (Values in Millions) . » S - : T

$250

200

150
100

50

’

1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 7987‘ 1988 1989 1990 1991

Fisoal Year Ended
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Investment, Section
- Schedule V

DISTRIBUTION OF PORTFOLIO AS OF JUNE 30, 1991 (Market Value),
" RATES OF RETURN FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1991 ’

-

/

Real Estate 10.8% . +1.1%
Short Term 3.6% +7.5% |

Fixed-Income 42.7% _+12.2%

. . R N ‘\A' N ) 0 )
Common Stock 42.1% +8.7% .?ther 0.8%
|
DISTRIBUTION OF PORTFOLIO AS OF JUNE 30,.1986 (Market Value),
RATES OF RETURN FOR THE FIVE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 1991

' Real Estate 14.6% _+3.0% _

, N , . { Fixed-.'/n'come 38.8% +9.4%
Short Term ‘I_O.6% +7.9% ’

i

1

, ~ . - - 0 ' ) 0 .
. Common Stock 35.3% +11.4%  Other 0.7%

DISTRIBUTION OF PORTFOLIO AS OF JUNE 30, 1981 (Market Value);
RATES OF RETURN FOR THE TEN YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 1991 L
| - : Other 0.3%

Common Stock 23.8% +14.9% ’

| ShorI Term é).?% +Q.1% ’ 'ixed-/hcome. 61.5% +14.6%

Real Estate 4:.7% +7.9%

. (Colored amounts are total annual _ o _— Performance returns calculated
rates of return for that asset class) ’ 1 by Ronald A..Karp Assoc.

o 5O . 3 : ol : SchoolEmp/oyeesRet/rementSystemof Oh/o
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- TOTAL FUND RETURN VS. HEALTH CARE & CONSUMER PRICES
(June 1981 thru June 1991) :

Schedule VI ‘ S ‘ ' o S
54
83
ﬁ $2
8
a
3
1981 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 . 1988 ~ 1989 1990 19971
— CPI
~—— CP| - Medical Care
\ — SERS Investment Return
: QUALITY OF COMMON STOCKS (By Market Value), JUNE 30, 1991
Exhibit | v
Quallty‘ . ’ Per'cent’ - Of the stecks owned by the System, the majority. . fé//
Rating . Of Stock . within the top three quality grades as rated by Stan-
A 29.1% * dard and Poor's Corporation with respect to the.
A 5 2’ 5 . relative stability and growth of earnings and
o - dividends. The 2.1 percent in the non-rated category
A~ o 21.3 are companies which are not rated by Standard and
B+ 13.3 ' Poor's as a matter of policy or because there is in-
B > 75 ~  sufficient data.
g_ . 40 , - A+ H/ghest "~ B Below Average .
= _ 0.2 | A High . B= Low
Not Rated > 0.0 A— Above Average C Lowest
ot Rateq - - 27 - B B+ Average D In Reorganization

_ School Employees Refirement System of Oio ' s
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o
TWENTY LARGEST COMMON STOCK HOLDINGS (By Market Value), JUNE 30, 1991,
Exhibit I - o - |

Market 9% Of Stock .-

Company ' Shares . - Value " Portfolio

Exxon Corp. ) - ’ 703,200 $ 40,873,500 ' 3.00%
General Electric Co. . 490,000 36,260,000 12.66
"International Business Machines Corp: - ~ 314,200 30,516,675 2.24
Phillip Morris Co. , 429,400 - 27,266,900, - 2.00
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v 511,400 21,862,350 1.61
du Pont (E.I.) de Nemours & Co. ' 458,100 21,015,338 1.54

~ Merck & Co. _ : 174,800 20,298,650 , 1.49
*Mobil Corp. ' , 292,100 18,767,425 ' 1.38

' Bristol-Myers ,Squibb Co. 237,280 18,448,520 1.36
American Telephone & Telegraph Co. ' 477,000 ) 18,245,250 ‘ 1.34
Johnson & Johnson 213,600 17,835,600 o 1.31
Chevron Corp. o - 253,200 ' 17,818,950 - - 1.31
“Coca-Cola Co. 317,000 17,276,500 127

" American Home Products Corp ' 256,200 115,275,925 1.12
Minnesota Mining.and Mfg. Co. .~ - 155, 500 © 14,558,688 ' 1.07
Amoco Corp. 263,400 13,334,625 "~ 0.98
American International Group, Inc. © 154,625 13,027,156 , 0.96
Procter & Gamble Co. ' ~ 156,273 12,091,623 0.89 °
Hewlett-Packard Co. : 237,800 12,068,350 0.89
Ameritech CQr_e. : . 199,500 12,019,875 - - 0.88

DIVI::RSIFICATION OF COMMON STOCKS (By Market Value), JUNE 30, 1991
Exhibit lI] o ‘ '

Interest Sensitive 20.7%

Capital Goods 17.0%

~ Consumer Cyclical 9.8%

}

-

~ Miscellaneous 1.0% Energy 10.8%

Transportation 1.3%

| Basic. Industry 8.2%

Consumer Staple 31.2%

~ School Employess Retiement Syster of Ohio
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'BOND PORTFOLIO BY SECTOR (By Par Value), JUNE 30, 1991
CExhibit IV o

TN

A Agency Bonds 20.1%
'Tréasury ands 28.9% - ‘

-

Industrial Bonds 22.2%

// __Canadian Bonds 11.3%

Telephone Bonds 5.7%

Electric Utility Bohds 11.8%

. BONb PORTFOLIO BY MA TURIT'YN(_By Par Va_Iu'e), JUNE 30, 1991
Exhibitv . |
(Millions .of Dollars) -

8375

300

225 t

150

75

o5 - 610 11-20 - 21-30

YEARS

. Schoot Employees Retirement;system\ of Ohio ... T S e 53 ¥
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. BOND PORTFOLIO QUALITY RATINGS BY MOODY’S (By Par Value), JUNE 30, 1991
Exhibit VI~ N A .

-

57.5%
_ . Aaa
. All of tHe bonds in the portfolio fall within
the top three grades of the nine bond
quality ratings established by Moody’s
-Investors Serviges, Inc. '

. -

TWENTY LARGEST FIXED INCOME HOLDINGS (By Market Value), JUNE 30, 1991

i . ~

Exhibit Vil

FHLMC GMC 12.45% 9-15-09

Par Value

{

17,455,515

" % Of Fixed

. Security ' Market Value - _ Portfolio
- FHLMC Multifamily 9.00% 5-1-97 27,718,030 . § 28618866 2.1%
U.S.. Treasury Notes 8.50% 5-1 5-97 '.25,000,000_ 25,562,500 - 1.9 )
Duke Power 10.125% 5-01-20 21,000,000 - 22,312,500 1.6
FHLMC Series 208 9.49% 6-15-09 19,940,000 . 21,310,875 1.5
FHLMC CMO M-5 8.65% 6-1-05 20,000,000 21,200,000 1.5,
U.S. Treasury Notes 9.25% 8-15-98 20,000,000 21,118,750 1.5 -~
LS. Treasury Notes 8.875% 7-15-95 20,000,000 20,800,000 1.5
" U.S. Treasury Notes 8.875% 2-15-96 20,000,000 20,800,000 1.5
FHLMC Cap Deb 8.80% 10-27-99 20,000,000 20,750,000 1.5
U.S. Treasury Notes 8.875% 11-15-97 Z0,000,000 20,731,250 1.5
U.S. Treasury Notes 8.875% 5-15-00 20,000,000 20,681,200 1.5
Associates Corp. 8.625% 6-15-97 20,000,000 20,050,000 1,4
U.S. Treasury Notes 8.00% 10-15-96 20,000,000 - 20,018,750 . 1.4
U.S. Treasury Notes 7.875% 7-15-96 20,000,000 19,943,750 1.4
" FHLMC Muyittifamily 9.00% 6-15-97 18,217,242 18,809,302 1.3
FHLMC Series 21D 9.25% 6:15-07 18,000,000 118,720,000 1.3
Hydro-Quebec 10.00% 2-1-09 17,000,000 - 18,110,312 1.3
FHLMC Part Ctf 10 00% 10-1-09 17,137,574 "17,715,967. 1.2
FHLMC Part Ctf 10 50% 2-1-19 16,791,746 17,689,353 1.2
13,744,500 1.2

54
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REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO BY PROPERTY TYPE (Includmg Commlngled Funds), JUNE 30 1991
Exﬁ/b/t Vllf :

\

. S
/ . . E

Office Buildings 34,7%

K ReSI'dential 3.5%
Hotel/Motel 2.4%
‘Other 4.2%

- Retail 36.1%

Industrial/Warehouse 9.1 %

REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO BY TYPE OF OWNERSHIP JUNE '30, 1991
Exhibit 1X o

’ _ \ o =

Participating | /

| * Commingled Funds 50.3%
Mortgages 8.0% ; —

)i

Sa/e/l_ easeback 10.0%

Fee Simple 31. 7%'

. School Employees Rez‘/remem Systemoth/o Sl L e 55 fio
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" PERCENT OF REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO BY GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION
(Including Commingled Funds), JUNE 30, 1991 S )

West 18.2% ) ~

° Al

Exhibit X.

TEN LARGEST REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS (By Market Value), JUNE 30, 1991
_ Exhibit XI ) ' : '

Property--

: Prudenfial Realty Group-PRISA

NCNB-Real Estate Fund

. Equitable Real Estate-Hawaiian Properties

Equitable Real Estate-Prime Properties Fd.

Morgan Guaranty Real Estate Fund
88 East Broad Building P

_Tech Park & Shadyview Warehouses

Metro Center V--
Prestige Plaza
Prudential Realty Group-PRISA Il

Location

Nationwide
Southeast
Hawaii
Nationwide
"Nationwide
Columbus, OH

" Eden Prairie, MN

- Dublin, OH
Dayton, OH -
- Nationwide

- Estimated

Market Value

-3

54,162,110
35,300,017
25,709,232
25,416,242

23,464,295 -
21,200,000

. 20,090,000
16,400,000
10,445,000

9,922,830

% Of Real
~ Estate Portfolio

15.7%

102

7.4

7.4

6.8

6.1

5.8

4.7

3.0

2.9

" School Employees Retirerent System of Ohio



INVESTMENT POLICY

" This Investment Policy was adopted by the Schoo/
Emp/oyees Retirement Board Of Ohio at its August 2,
1985 meeting and revised on April 7, 1989,

A. Purpose .

The purpose of this Staterhent of Investment Policy is
to define the Retirement Board's investment

philosophy and objectives for the School- Emp/oyeés

- Retirement System.of Ohio. This statement sets forth
policies and describes the organization and division

of responsibilities to prudently implement the-Board’s’

philosophy and objectives in accordance with Sec-
tion 3309.15 of the Ohio Revised Code. It also
estab//shes the framework and specific objectives to .
monitor investment performance and promote effec-
tive communication between the Board and the In-
vestment Staff and Investment Managers

The Qontenls of this Statement of /nvestment Pol/cy
and the associated Guidelines and Objectives are
subject to change at any time by the Board. The
Statement will be reviewed and revised periodically

, o assure that it continues to reflect the attitudes, ex-
pectations and objectives of the Board.

A\

' B. Background

’

Fd

The School Employees Retirement System of Ohio

. was established by the state legisiature to provide -
retirement and disability benefits for all non- ,
certificated persons employed by the state's school
d/stncts This purpose is sustained by the member ..

and employer contributions and returns realized from .,

investment of those contributions.

The Systém is governed by_a>seven member board,
including the Ohio Attorney General and State
Auditor, with responsibility for the investment function
as ‘set forth in the Ohio.Revised Code. In addition to.

the investment function, the Ohio Revised Code also -

sets forth the fiduciary responsibility of the Board and
of-bther fiduciaries in discharging their duties with
respect to the fund. This Statement of Investment
Policy incorporates and Is subject to all restrictions,
guidelines and ob/:gat/ons set forth by the Otio
,/-?ewsed Code .

Investment Section

" C. Investment Philosophy

Risk Posture ,
The Board realizes that its pr/mary ob/ect/ve is to
assure that the Plan mieet its responsibilities for
providing retirement and other benefits. Therefore,

it shall always act to assure that the level of invest-
ment risk in the portfo//o shall be prudent and’
-shall not jeopardize that primary objective. -~

Return :

The Board .believes, however, that over the long-
term there exists a relationship between the level
of investment risk taken and rate of investment
return realized. The Board feels that assumption of

. @ moderate level of risk associated with in-
vestments is.reasonable and justified-in order to
enhance potential long-term /'nvestment results. -

Diversification
The Board seeks d/versmcat/on by asset class and
by investment approach and individual in-
vestments within asset classes to reduce overall
portfolio risk.

B Liquidity Requirements

The System anticipates positive cash flow over the
near-term and intermediate-term.- quutdlty, for the
purpose of immediate and intermediate-term
benefit payments, is therefore not a major con-
sideration in the investment of funds for the
foreseeable future.

D. Investment Objectives '

In def/'nin'g investment objectives the Board seeks fo

enhance the investment returns of the fund in order
to permit higher benefits and to achieve lower costs.
Therefore, it adopts the fo//owrng genera/ investment
objectives:

" Performance Objectives

A. Maximize Total Return on. Assets: Recognizing the
- System'’s obligations will increase as a result of in-
flation, to maximize the total return on assets
available for the provision of benefits while
operating in accordance with applicable regulatory
restrictions and-within prudent parameters of risk.,

B. Preservation of Principal: To protect the Systen%
from severe depréciation in asset value during -

-

- Sohool Employees Retirement System of Ohio
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INVESTMENT POLICY (Continued)

D. Investment Objectives (Continued)
. Performance Objectives (Continued)

' adverse market conditions. This objective shall be
attained by broad. diversification of assets and by
careful review of risks:: . .

C. Competitive Results: To ach/eve /nvestment results
competitive with those of the broad market and of
similar funds. Long-term resu/ts shall be
empha&zed

Risk

A. Stability: While the Board seeks h/gher /ong -term
“investment results, it also seeks to avoid major
fluctuations in year-to-year results. -

B. Risk Level: The Board seeks to maintain a
reasonable degree of total portfolio risk, defined

. as that which would be ex,oer/enced by SIm/lar
retirement systems.

Other Objectives

Ohio Investments: Where investment

. characteristics, including return, risk and. liquidity,
are equ1va/ent the Board will give carefu/ con-
S/derailon to investments which will have a positive
impact on the economy of Ohio.

VE. lmplementation Approach

In order to monitar and. control the activities within
_the investment function, the Board has reserved cer-
tain responsibilities for-itself. It has also delegated

_ certain responsibilities to the Investment Staff, to’
organizations serving as Investment Managers and,
from time to time, to other consultants or advisors.

" These are enumerated in Section F, Investment
Organization and Responsibilities. '

i .
~In fulfulling its fiduciary duties,. the Retirement Board
employs a competent and qualified Investment Staft

for the management of the- major portion of portfolio '

assets. In those areas where specialized expertise is
- required, the Retirement Board employs the services
of outside lnvestment Managers.

The Board has also established a reporting process

- for regular and timely review and evaluation of invest-

ment results. This is described in Section G, Review
and Evaluation. Finally, the Board has adopted In-
vestment Guidelines and Objectives for each asset .
class and each investment management aocountabz/t-
ty unit w:th/n those asset classes. Thése guidelines
also specify long-term target ratios for asset alloca-
tions, gs well as permISS/b/e ranges related to those
target allocations. These guidelines and objectives
are regularly evaluated and Updated based on

“market conditions, investment results and the recom- -

mendations of the Investment Staff Investment

Managers and other‘ consultants or adwsors

F. Investment Organization and Responsibilities
ResponS/b///t/es of the Retirement Board V

The Retirement Board recogmzes its responszbmty to
ensure that the assets of the Plan are managed ef-
fectively and prudently, in full compliance with all ap-

_plicable laws, and for the exclusive benefit of par-
_ ticipants and beneficiaries. The Board believes it can

best. manage those responsibilities by delegating cer-

tain specific duties to others, as, described below. In
addition, the Board may deS/gnate certain of its

members.to act as an investment LCommittee or a

‘ _Subcomm/ttee from time to time, and may de/egate'
certain decision-making or fact- -finding responsibilities

to that committee or subcommittee.

Specific res,oohs/b/’/ities of the Ret/'rement Board or its

_Investment Committee or Subcomm/ttee are as

follows: - . .

" A. Ensure that all f/o’uc:&ries comply with the Ohio -

Revised Code and any other applicable regu/a—
t/ons and /eg/slat/on

B. Estab//sh investment policies, guidelines and ob
jectives for the assets of the Plan and com-
~ municate them to the Investment Staff and Invest-
ment Managers.

C. Appoint and discharge those with réspons/b///ty for -
‘managing the Plan’s assets, including investment
- managers, oonsu/tants and any others involved.

D. Request, receive and review reports from the In-
vestrnent Staff and Investment Managers.

~ School Employees Retirement System of O
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INVESTMENT POLICY (Contihued)

F. Investment Organlzatlon and Respons:bmtles
~-(Continued)

i

FfesponS/b/I/t/es of the lnvestment Staff

The Investment Staff, headed by the Executive D/rec :

tor and the Assistant Director for Investments, shall
accept the followmg responsibilities. The Execut/ve
- Director shall: .

A. Obtain. necessary reports on the investment results

of the Plan’s assets\on a timely basis as Specified

in Section G, Review and Evaluation.

B..Retain any consultants or advisors deemed
necessary or desirable for assistance in the invest-
ment of Plan assets, and for meet/ng his
responsibilities, ,

'

C. Oversee the investment functfon "

" The Assistant Director for Investments shall accept

the following responsibilities:

-

. A. Administer the policies, quidelines and objectives
adopted by the Retirement Board-of the School
Employees Retirement System_ of Ohio in com-

-pliance with the relevant sections .of the Ohio
Revised Code.

B. Inform and communicate to other P/an-_ fidutiaries,
including- all Investment Managers, the re-
quirements of the Ohio Revised Code and the
policies, guidelines and objectives adopted by the
Retirement Board, and menitor their compliance.

C. Prepare annually an Annual Plan for the invest-

ment of the Plan’s assets with recognition of the . -

‘target asset mix ratios and the permissible ranges
- for asset allocation established by the Board.

v D.~/mp/émer7t the Annual Plan, exercisin-g‘ the
judgments allowed by the Board as to the asset
allocation ranges for that year.

E. Report to the Board or its Investment Committee
any intra-year changes in the Annual Plan or in
the policy, guidelines or objectives which the In-
vestment Staff deemis desirable or which are
recommended by an Investment Manager or other
consultants or advisors. -

- F. Qversee the activities of the /n'vestrhent Si‘afﬁ'

H

Investment  Section

Y

Respbnsibf’//ties of the Investment Managers

v ’
' Each Investment Manager, including Investment Staff

with respect to internally managed assets, shall ac-
cept the following responsibilities for the specified in- .
vestment management. accountability unit which-it

’ manages.

CA Manége the assets within its control in bompliance

with the refevant sections of the Ohiq Revised
Code and with the policies, guidelines and objec-
tives adopted by the Retirement Board.

B. Exercise investment discretion within the

- guidelines and objectives specified, including deci-
sions to buy, hold or sell securities based on the

" manager's current investment strategy and outlook
and compatible with such .objectives.

C. Inform the Retirement Board or the Investment

Committee of any substantial changes in invest- "
ment strategy, portfolio structure, value of assets,
and of any organizational changes, including that

" of ownership, affiliation, organizational structure,
financial condition, or changes. in professional per-
sonnel staffing the /nvestment management
organ/zat/on

D. Prepare reports for the Board or Investment Com-
mittee prior to any scheduled meetings but at
least on a quarterly basis._

E ;Recommend to the Board or Investment Commit-

tee any changes in policy, guidelines or objectives .
which the Investment Manager believes to be
desirable.

G. Review and Evaluation

The Board shall review and evaluate periodic reports
on the investment resuits of the Plan's assets, as
described below, obtained: by the Executive Director.
In addition, the Board shall review the periodic -
reports of each Investment Manager. In these
reviews, it is intended that greater emphasis shall be
given to long-téfm results’ than to short-term results.
Following is the intended frequency for the review
and evaluation,.although these may be altered by
the Board as deemed necessary,

. SchOO;l ,,‘E;mp(/byee{g Retirement System of Qh/o L i



Investment Section

INVESTMENT POLICY (Continued)
_ G. Review and Evaluation (Cont;'nued) \

Quarterly

Summary Investment Reports — /nc/udmg

highlights and commentary of investment perfor- .

mance, asset composition and holdings for each
asset class and each investment management ac-
countablllty unit. These reparts shall identify any ~
fesults which require the attention of the Board.

" Investment Manager Reports — prepared by the

" manager of each investment management accoun-
tability unit, report/ng on the results of the most re-

cent period.

J

-Annually

Detailed annual investment reports — these
reports will include the contents ‘of the quarterly-
summary reports, as well as additional detait_:
regarding the investment results for each invest-
ment management accountablllty unit.

Written and/or verbal reports presented by the
manager of each investment management accoun-
tability unit. These shall be scheduled on a stag-

. gered basis. throughout the year, as determined
appropriate by the Board.

tirement System of Ohio
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Purpose

The School Employees Retirement System of Ohio
was established in 1937 by the state legislature to
provide retirement and disability benefits for all non-
certificated persons employed by the state's 766
school districts. This purpose is sustained by the
member and employer contributions and the income
realized from’investment of those contributions.

Administration

The functioning of SERS is supervised by a seven
member Board which works in conjunction with the

System’s Executive Director. Four of the seven Board-

members are elected by the general membership
(those who contribute to SERS) and ane is elected
by retirants. The Ohio Attorney General and State
Auditor, by virtue of their elected office, serve as the
remaining two Board members in an ex officio
capacity. ’

The Executive Director is appointed by the Board.
This person oversees the administrative operation of
the System, and is aided by five directors. Their
areas of responsibility are finance, investments,
member services, planning and development, and
management information services.

Employer Participation

The school employers served by SERS include public
schools within the state’s cities, villages and counties,
as well as local districts, vocational and technical
schools, and The University of Akron.

Employers contribute to SERS at the rate of 14.0% of
payroll. Some employers pay the System directly on
a monthly, quarterly, or annual basis, while others
make payments through participation in the Ohio
Department of Education's School Foundation Fund.

In addition to forwarding appropriate contribution
amounts to SERS, it is the responsibility of the
employers to supply SERS with new membership
records, members’ contribution information, and any
data needed at the time of a member's application
for benefits or refund of deposits on termination of
employment.

Employee Participation

Membership in SERS is divided into several groups
based on the activity of a member’s SERS account.

Member groups are:

A. Active Members — These are persons currently
employed by a school employer. Membership is
required for most employees working in a posi-
tion that does not require certification by the
Ohio Department of Education. These persons in-
clude clerical workers, maintenance personnel,
bus drivers, food service workers, playground
supervisors, data processing personnel, etc. Two
exceptions to the membership requirements are:
(1) Persons with student status within a school

_district may choose to become members of
SERS. (2) Persons retired from one of the other
Ohio state retirement systems may not become
members of SERS. Active members have an
amount equal to 9.0% of their earnings
deducted from their gross salaries for each
payroll period. These amounts are then forward-
ed to SERS by the payroll officer, and applied to
the member's account at SERS.

B. Inactive Members — These are persons who
have contributions on deposit with SERS, but are
not currently employed by a school district in the
state of Ohio.

C. Retired/Disabled Members — These are per-
sons who have either (1) met the age and ser-
vice requirements for retirement from service; or
(2) become eligible to receive benefits as a result
of an injury or illness that prevents the member
from performing regularly assigned duties.

D. Members’ Survivors — When a member dies
before retirement, the qualified beneficiaries
become eligible for monthly benefits from SERS.

Refund of Contributions

A member is entitled to a full refund of contributions
with SERS upon termination of school employment.
Only the money the member has contributed is
refundable.

in accordance with Ohio Revised Code, there is a
90-day waiting period after the member's last day of .
service before the refund can be paid. A refund
cancels any claim to benefits offered by SERS.

The refunded amount, plus interest, may he

- School \Emp/oy{ess',Ret/?rgmentnSystem'onghiQ B
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redeposited if, at some later date, the member
returns to school service or to any other public ser-
vice with the state of Ohio. This purchase may be
made after the member has been credited with 1.5
years of contributing service.

Service Retirement

Members may retire from school employment if they
have attained one of three combinations of age or
service:

1. Five years of service and age 60, or

2. Twenty-five years of service and age 55, or

3. Thirty years of service at any age.

A member’s age is defined to be the actual age a
person has reached on the day of retirement. Any
change of the date of birth on our records must be
substantiated by submitting proof of date of birth to
the System. '

Service Credit

Service credit is the actual number of years or frac-
tion thereof a person worked within a school district
or districts in Ohio schools, plus any other free or
purchased service the System recognizes.

Free service is service for which no contributions are
required. This includes military service performed
while on leave from the school district; service with a
school system before establishment of SERS in 1937,
or service granted for a period (three years or less)
spent off the district's payroll while drawing state
worker's compensation for a school job-related
accident.

Purchased service is service for which payment plus
interest is required. The interest rate is 7.5%. Service
must be purchased before the date of retirement if it
is to be considered in calculating the member’s

benefits. Payment may be made in a lump sum or in
multiples of one month or more $o long as the com-
plete amount due is tendered before retirement. The

types of service that can be purchased are:

Military — A member may purchase up to five years
of credit in SERS for active service in the armed
forces of the U.S. There is no restriction placed on
time elapsed between school employment and the
time spent in the military. A member may purchase
additional service credit if the military service includes

prisoner of war time. Purchased credit may not be
greater than the member's actual Ohio school
employment credit.

Federal, Other State, Or School Service — The
member may purchase credit for service rendered in
a school or government position outside the State of
Ohio. The service cannot be greater than the
member’s SERS service nor can it exceed five years.

Refunded Service — Service lost due to the pay-
ment of a refund may be restored after the member
has returned to work and accrued 1.5 years of ser-
vice covered by SERS, STRS, PERS, PFDPF, or
SHPRS. An interest charge is payable in addition to
the restored funds.

Compulsory Service — This is service for which the
member should have made contributions while work-
ing, but did not, for whatever reason. The full
amount, plus interest, must be paid before retirement
benefits are granted.

Optional Service — This is service during a period
when the member was given a choice of contributing
or refraining from doing so. In order for the member
to purchase this credit, the employer-school district
must likewise make its contribution, and the
employer is under no obligation to make payment.

Leave Of Absence — A member returning to work
after a period of authorized leave may purchase ser-
vice credit for the period involved. As with optional
service, an employer contribution is required for this
service to be granted, but the employer is under no
obligation to make payment.

A member who has contributions not only at SERS,
but also at State Teachers (STRS) or Public
Employees (PERS) Retirement Systems is eligible to
receive transferred credit from either or both of those
systems. Any service which is not concurrent with
(served at the same time as) SERS service will be in-
cluded in determination of retirement benefits.

Early Retirement Credit

Employers may purchase up to five years of service
credit for their eligible employees under an early
retirement incentive plan authorized by 1983
legisiation.

~ Sohool Employees Retirement System of Ohio
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Adoption of a plan is optional and only employers
may purchase such credit.

Benefit Calculation

The final average salary is the average of the
member’s highest three years of earnings while in
the school service.

The benefit amount is calculated in this way:

The final average salary amount is multiplied by
2.1% to determine the value of a year of service
credit. This value cannot be less than $86. If it is,
$86 is used. The value is then multiplied by the
number of years of service credit. This calculation
yields the annual retirement benefit amount for a per-
son who has reached age 65 or who has 30 years of
service at retirement time.

For “early retirement” (the member is under age 65
or has less than 30 years of servics) there is a cor-
responding percentage of decrease in the required
benefit amount to allow for an extended period of
retirement. Reduction factors are required by Ohio
state law and set by the Board as recommended by
the actuary.

Retirement Options

Should the retiring member wish to provide a benefit
amount for a beneficiary upon the retiree’s death,
this may be done by the selection of one of the op-
tional retirement plans provided for this purpose. Op-
tional plans may be altered by the retired member
should the beneficiary die before the retirant or in the
event of a divorce, with consent of the ex-spouse.

Disability Retirement

A member prevented from performing regular duties
on the job after incurring an injury or illness and
before reaching age 60 may apply for monthly
disability benefits. To qualify, the member must have
at least 5 years of service credit. In addition to the
age and service requirements, the member must:

» Have developed the disabling illness or injury
after last becoming a member of SERS;

» Have heen recommended for approval by a
SERS-sponsored medical review board,

* Have applied for benefits within 2 years of the last
dlay of service with the school district;

s Not have withdrawn contributions or retired on
service retirement.

The benefit is calculated in the same way as a
regular service retirement benefit, except that no
reduction is made for being under 65 years of age.
SERS grants free credit for each year between the
member’s date of disability retirement and age 60.
Benefits range from a minimum of 30% of final
average salary to a maximum of 75% and are
granted as long as the member remains disabled
(subject to re-examination) or until death.

Death Benefits

The designated beneficiary of any SERS retirant will
receive a $500 lump sum payment upon the
retirant’s death. If there is no beneficiary, payment is
made to the person responsible for the burial ex-
penses or ta the retirant's estate.

Survivor Benefits

Qualified dependents of a deceased member may
apply for monthly survivor benefits. Such benefits are
payable if the member had at /east 18 months of
Ohio service credit, three of which were served in the
2.5 years prior to the member's death, or if the
member was receiving a disability benelfit.

If the member was eligible for service retirement but
had not yet applied for benefits, the surviving spouse
or other single dependent beneficiary of any age can
draw a monthly lifetime benefit known as the joint
survivor option. Duration of survivor benefits depends
primarily on the age and marital status of the depen-
dent(s).

Health Care and Other Benefits

Eligible benefit recipients receive medical insurance
from SERS. Coverage for a spouse and/or depen-
dent children can be provided by means of a month-
ly deduction from the benefit. Coverage is offered
by the selection of the Aetna insurance company, for
those persons in the Cleveland area, the Kaiser
health plan, or for those in the Marion area,
HealthOhio, Inc., or for those in the Central Ohio
area, United Health Plan.

If the benefit recipient participates in Medicare B,
SERS reimburses the recipient $24.80 per month.

An optional prescription drug program is available to
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benefit recipients of SERS and their dependents who
are covered under the Aetna health care plan. Par-
ticipants may either choose to obtain prescription
drugs from their local pharmacy and receive reim-
bursement from the Aetna health care plan or they
may elect to receive the drugs by mail from a
licensed mail order pharmacy for a minimal fee per
medication.

Members retiring after June 1, 1986 must have 10 or
more years of service credit to qualify for the health
care benefits.

Members retiring on and after August 1, 1989 with
less than 25 years of qualified service credit pay a

portion of their premium for health care. The portion
js based on years of service up to a maximum of
75% of the premium.

Cost of Living Increases

After 12 months on the benefit rolls, and each year
thereafter, SERS retirants are entitled to an automatic
cost of living increase of 3%, provided the Consumer
Price Index shows a 3% gain over the previous year.
This increase will be paid each year by the Retire-
ment System until the accumulated excess cost of
living points fall below 3%. In addition, the legisiature
has granted several permanent ad hoc increases to
SERS retirees, the last such increase being in 1988.




